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Introduction
The purpose of this guide is to provide an overview of the audit report and financial statements.
This guide is primarily intended for the Board member of a Community Action Agency that does
not come from a financial expertise background. It is not intended to be an authoritative guide of
all the nuances of non-profit finances.
It should also be noted that the report language used and the examples provided in this guide are
specifically for private (non-profit) Community Action Agencies. This means that the organization
is an independent 501 c (3) corporation. Some CAAs are organized as governmental organizations
or are part of a government structure. Reports and financial statements will look different for those
organizations. Many of the concepts contained in this guide are true for both types of CAAs but
additional clarification and caution should be used if the CAA you are with is organized as a
governmental agency.
As each Community Action Agency is unique, the limited scope of this guide precludes anticipating
each and every possible bit of financial information. Rather, the guide is meant as a high level
overview to start the conversation between the Board, staff and auditors. I have always found the
conversation and discussion provide the richest source of information and that there is seldom only
one way to interpret financial information. Do not be afraid to ask questions – in fact, good
governance requires that you do!
Financial resources of a Community Action Agency, or any non-profit or public organization,
provide the means to the ends. Unlike a for profit entity where the bottom line of the financial
statements is the success or failure of the organization, financial resources in a non-profit provide
the salaries of the staff to positively impact the lives of hundreds of thousands or millions of people.
The prudent stewardship of these resources maximizes the capacity of the organization to provide
these results.
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What is an Audit?
Audit Defined
An audit is the professional opinion of a certified public accountant (CPA) that the financial
statements of an organization are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. (This is why this guide is needed – even in a document intended to clarify what an audit
report says, the accountant seems to speak a foreign language!) Please allow me to pull apart the key
phrases in the above statement to simplify.
First, an audit is an opinion, it is not a fact. An audit is not a guarantee. An auditor comes into an
agency for a week or two once a year to gather evidence to prepare her opinion. She reviews a
sample of the transactions conducted during the year and uses that sample of transactions to
extrapolate her opinion on all the transactions conducted by an agency in the whole year. Clearly, it
is not possible for an auditor to review each and every transaction entered into over a year’s time
without having an audit fee that would be unrealistic.
Second, the opinion is rendered by a CPA, or in some states a public accountant. CPAs are licensed
by the state and is an official designation. A person without a license as a CPA cannot issue an audit
opinion. The term ‘audit’ is actually a legal term that cannot be used by someone other than a CPA.
Becoming a CPA means a person has at least a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college, has
passed a national exam, some level of actual practical experience, and partakes in annual continuing
professional education.
Third, the statements are fairly presented. The auditor opines that the statements are fairly
presented, not that the statements are perfectly correct. A key term that is used in audits is
‘materiality.’ This means that there is some latitude in terms of what is fair. A number does not
have to be exact to be fairly presented. The key is whether the user would make different
conclusions about the financial condition of the organization.
Finally, generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) is the framework that governs the
accounting rules. GAAP is a defined set of rules created to make financial statements comparable
between entities and amongst the accounting profession. This standardization eliminates
inconsistencies amongst CPAs. It is the means to make financial information as comparable as
possible.

Audit Procedures
The audit process is fairly standard regardless of which CPA performs the procedures. The specific
tests performed will vary depending on the auditor. Auditors are allowed to use their best judgment
when it comes to selecting the specifics, but the general framework of what constitutes an audit is
determined by generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS).
First, the auditor must plan the audit work appropriately. Planning is an essential
component of the audit process. The auditor will work with staff on scheduling and testing, but the
auditor should also have conversations during the planning phase of the engagement with the Board. The auditor
must lay out a plan for the conduct of the audit and follow it. This standard also requires the
auditor to adequately supervise the work of any assistants used on the engagement. Frequently,
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audit firms will have staff of varying degrees of experience work on a particular engagement, but
ultimately the CPA signing the audit report is responsible for the work conducted by all the
subordinates on the job.
Second, the auditor must have sufficient understanding of the particular Community
Action Agency and the broader environment in which it operates. This requires that the
auditor have a reasonably deep understanding of the context in which your agency does business.
This includes such things as understanding the uniqueness of grant funded operations. The auditor
needs to know the compliance environment that you spend your money in. An auditor for
Community Action Agencies would need to know the requirements of the OMB circulars that
govern Federal money. Further, the auditor would need to have a handle on the nuances of nonprofit finances. Finally, the auditor would need to have, or be able to develop, a solid understanding
of your unique organization. This means the auditor would need to understand your grants, your
policies, your procedures, and your governance structure.
Third, the auditor must obtain sufficient evidence through performing procedures to
allow him to afford a reasonable basis for his opinion. An audit is a fact based process.
Although an auditor is allowed latitude to determine specific procedures, the auditor is required to
have enough solid facts and evidence to base his conclusion. GAAS requires the use of evidence for
the auditor to base his opinion.
Fourth, the auditor must be qualified and competent. In general, the auditor must have
appropriate skill and knowledge to conduct an audit. GAAS mandates that the auditor be independent
in all matters related to the Community Action Agency (CAA) being audited. For an auditor to be truly
independent, he or she must be independent in fact and appearance. Generally, this means the
auditor cannot have a financial or other interest in the organization under audit. Potential violations
of independence would include, but are not be limited to:


A relative of the auditor is employed by the CAA under audit.



The auditor or a relative is a Board member of the agency.



The auditor or a relative is a vendor providing goods or services to the CAA.

In order to achieve the objective of an audit, the auditor would take the following steps:
Plan the audit engagement. Considering all the auditor knows about the specific agency, nonprofits in general, Community Action Agencies in particular, federal funding, and the general state of
the economy, the auditor would prepare a list of risk exposures. Next, the auditor would develop an
audit plan, considering the identified risks, on how to obtain evidence that the financial statements
of the entity are fairly stated, given these risks. The planning phase would also include meeting with
the Board or Audit Committee to ascertain any special concerns that they have about the systems
and finances of the CAA. The auditor would also work on the details of timing and assignment of
personnel.
Review the controls of the CAA. An essential part of the audit process is the assessment of the
existing internal controls operating at the agency. The first portion of this step is to review the
stated controls for the agency and determine whether those controls as stated would adequately
safeguard the assets of the organization and allow for proper preparation of financial statements.
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The auditor would review financial policies and procedures and conclude whether they are
appropriate for the organization.
Conduct the testing. This phase is also commonly referred to as fieldwork. This is the most
apparent portion of the audit. This is when the audit staff would be in the client’s office reviewing
documents and asking agency personnel questions. The gathering of evidence is performed at this
time. As evidence is gathered, it may become necessary to modify the original work plan set out in
the planning phase. Additional concerns may be raised that were not originally anticipated and these
questions must be satisfied to allow the auditor to determine whether the financial statements are
fairly presented.
Conclude and report. The final phase of the audit is to summarize all the evidence gathered and
make a conclusion. Once the conclusion is made, reports are drafted and reporting out to the Board
or Audit Committee is done.

Types of Audits
There are three levels of audits. Each level of audit is truly an audit in its own right; however,
certain circumstances require different degrees of audit.
Financial Statement Audit
This type of audit produces an opinion on the financial statement only. This is the type of audit
conducted for most for-profit organizations. A financial statement audit can be conducted for nonprofit organizations as well, but this is typically only done for non-profit organizations that receive
little or no Federal or state funding. In general, most CAAs receive funding at a level that does not
allow a simple financial statement audit.
Yellow Book Audit
Yellow Book refers to the publication Government Auditing Standards as prepared by the United States
Government Accountability Office (GAO). The Yellow Book establishes standards around audits
of Federal money. These standards include:


Independence



Due Care



Continuing Professional Education



Supervision



Quality Control

A Yellow Book audit includes everything a financial statement audit includes plus additional testing
and quality standards. In order to conduct Yellow Book audits, CPAs have additional requirements
beyond just being licensed to practice in their respective state.
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Single Audit
This is the type of audit the vast majority of Community Action Agencies are required to have. In
general, a single audit is required for any organization receiving $500,000 or more of Federal money in a fiscal
year. The standards governing a single audit are contained in the Office of Management and Budget
(OMB) Circular A-133 Audits of Institutions of Higher Education and Other Non-Profit Organizations. All
the procedures necessary to conduct a financial statement audit and a Yellow Book audit are
required for a single audit plus additional testing around compliance. The outcome of a single audit
will include an opinion of the fairness of the financial statements, limited reporting on the internal
controls of the organization and an opinion on whether the CAA is complying with the specific
requirements around how the Federal money is used.

What an Audit is Not
I have spent a fair amount of space on what constitutes an audit. I think it is also important to be
clear about what an audit is not.
An audit is not a guarantee or an insurance policy that the financial statements are
absolutely correct to the nearest dollar. Remember that the audit opinion says the financial
statements are materially correct. This should mean that the financial statements are a fair
representation of the financial position of the organization and that you, as the user, would not
make a different conclusion about the financial position of the organization even if all possible
errors were corrected. The important concept to keep in mind is that audit was conducted on the
basis of a sampling of data. From the items reviewed by the auditor, the conclusion is correct. It is
possible that if the auditor selected different test items, the conclusion would be different.
The audit opinion does not tell you what the financial statements mean. The user is
left to interpret the meaning of the financial statements. The auditor does not ever say that the
organization is in ‘good’ or ‘bad’ financial position. The user must read the statements and come to
their own conclusion. Just because an agency gets a ‘clean’ audit opinion does not mean that the agency is in great
financial shape.
An audit is not intended to tell the user that the agency has made good decisions.
Nowhere in the audit opinion should the user ever conclude that the auditor is saying the ‘right’
decisions were made by management. If the financial statements say $50,000 was spent on office
rent, this in no way should be inferred that $50,000 was a good deal or that the office was necessary
to rent.
The audit opinion relates solely to the accuracy of the data presented not the effectiveness or
desirability of the transactions.

Board Engagement
You may ask how you, as a Board member, should interact with the auditor. There are three
primary areas that the Board should interact with auditors.
The Board or Audit Committee of the Board should select the auditor. The auditor
reports to the Board and not to agency staff. Sometimes this relationship is not clear from an
operating perspective, but from a governance perspective the relationship is crystal clear. One of
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the major roles for the Board is the proper stewardship of the financial resources of the agency. The
safeguard of this process is partly fulfilled by the annual audit. Appendix A to this document has a
potential request for proposal (RFP) for the solicitation of auditors. Staff can certainly assist in this
process, but the final decision should be made by the Board or the Audit Committee of the Board.
When selecting auditors, it is important to determine whether or not the potential auditor
understands non-profit organizations in general and CAAs in particular. Another important
deciding factor in selecting auditors for Community Action Agencies is whether the CPA knows the
rules around federally funded grant programs. Finally, make sure you have a copy of the peer review of
the firm. A peer review is an ‘audit’ of sorts that the audit firm undergoes on the quality of processes
and procedures used by the audit firm in the conduct of their audits.
A frequent question is how often to re-bid audit services. This depends on the preferences of the
specific agency. Many CAAs go through the process every three or five years. Some agencies
require that the audit firm be changed every time a new process is conducted. Others require that
the lead partner on the engagement be changed every three or five years. The specific timeframe is
really up to the individual CAA and should be a matter of discussion and determination for the
Board, Finance Committee or Audit Committee (depending on the governance that is in place). A
best practice is that audit contracts should be reviewed annually (not necessarily a change in firm).
This review would be a conversation between the Audit Committee and staff on how the process
went and what the results were. In practice this means awarding a one year contract and an option
for two or more additional annual renewals.
The Board and/or Audit Committee should be involved to a limited extent in the
planning process. After the auditor is selected, the auditor should begin planning the
engagement. Part of this planning process includes a mandatory discussion with the Board. The
purpose of this interaction is for the Board to highlight any areas of particular concern or interest
that the Board has and that they would like reviewed. Further, the auditors are required to contact
some or all Board members to specifically discuss their awareness of fraud controls; any reported
instances of fraud during the fiscal year; and any potential concerns of fraud known by the Board.
The auditors need to present results and findings to the Board. The true reporting
relationship of the auditor is to the Board. At the conclusion of the audit engagement, the auditors
need to communicate back to the Board what, if anything, they discovered in their tests. This is a
way of ‘closing the loop.’ Hopefully, the results will all be good, but when there is a finding or a
problem, the Board needs to request management’s reaction and corrective action plan. Then the
Board needs to make sure that they hold management accountable to ‘fix’ the issue. Auditors are
required to start their procedures the next year by examining whether previous deficiencies were
resolved and how the Board handled it.

Audit Committee
The interactions between CAA Board and auditor would typically be handled by an Audit Committee.
An Audit Committee is not a requirement in all CAAs, although highly recommended. The Audit
Committee is typically charged with handling the communication with the auditors on behalf of the
Board. This is usually beneficial as most Board’s do not have a significant number of members who
have financial expertise. This is a way for those possessing that skill set to do the work of the Board
without taking everyone’s time for those who would not necessarily contribute to the process. Also,
this is a way to bring in financial expertise to the CAA. Most by-laws allow non-Board members to sit on
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committees. In this way, an additional member or two, who do not sit on the Board, can be utilized to do this
important work of the Board. Appendix B contains a possible charter for an Audit Committee.
Some organizations find it beneficial to have an Audit Committee and a separate Finance
Committee. Others find it best serves their needs to combine the duties of an Audit Committee
with their Finance Committee. There is no one best answer to this structure; rather it is what best
suites the needs of the organization. One determining factor is the ability to garner the requisite
expertise. The group (Audit Committee or Finance Committee) overseeing the audit should contain
financial experts. Typically, this expertise is found in a CPA that is not associated with conducting
the audit of the organization or a finance person from an organization that undergoes an audit.
Sometimes it is easier to persuade someone with this expertise to attend two annual Audit
Committee meetings and he or she will not be interested in serving on a Finance Committee that
may meet monthly. As long as the governance is clear who has responsibility and the expertise is
present, the concept of two separate committees or one combined committee is not crucial.
An audit is typically required by the by-laws of a CAA but also for most CAAs by the nature of the
work they do with federally funded grant programs. It is important for Board members to know
what an audit is – and what it isn’t. The Board has certain roles that it needs to perform in the audit
of a CAA.

Auditor’s Report
The result of the audit process is the audited financial statements. For a typical Community Action
Agency single audit, the key elements of this document would be the following:


Auditor’s report on the financial statements



Financial statements of the organization
o Statement of Financial Position
o Statement of Activities
o Statement of Cash Flows
o Footnotes



Schedule of Federal expenditures



Auditor’s report on internal controls



Auditor’s report on compliance

Report Format
The auditor’s report is the official opinion of the auditor about the accuracy of the financial
statements. At first glance, the audit report appears like legal double speak. Truth be told, it is a
very regimented, highly formalized statement. The accounting profession has spent much time
developing the exact wording to be used and there is very little flexibility in the word choice of this
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document. It is truly a state of art for the accounting industry. Hopefully, I can help translate some
of the accounting language into plain English.
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Example Letter – Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Directors
Example Community Action Agency
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
1

I have audited the accompanying statement of financial position
of Example Community Action Agency (a nonprofit
organization) as of December 31, 2012, and the related
statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Organization’s management. My responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

1. Introductory Paragraph-The first
paragraph lays out the scope of the
audit and makes it clear that the
auditor is reporting to the Board and
not staff or management.
2. The scope paragraph outlines standards
used in the audit.

3. The opinion paragraph presents the
I conducted my audit in accordance with auditing standards
auditor’s opinion as Unqualified,
generally accepted in the United States and the standards
Qualified, Adverse, or a Disclaimer of
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Opinion.
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that I plan and perform the
4. Final paragraph of the opinion
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
references the additional opinions
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
presented in the full set of financial
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
statements.
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I believe
that my audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion.
2

3

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Example Community Action Agency as of December 31, 2012, and the changes
in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.
4

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued my report dated January 27,
2013 on my consideration of Example Community Action Agency’s internal control over financial
reporting and my tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of my
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and
not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and
should be considered in assessing the results of my audit.
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My audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of
Example Community Action Agency taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of program
activity, Schedule A, and schedule of expenditures of federal awards and list of programs, Schedule
B, which includes the requirements of U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133,
Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in my
opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole.
Jonathon Q. Auditor, C.P.A.
January 27, 2013
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
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Introductory Paragraph
The auditor’s opinion should always be labeled with the words ‘Independent Auditor’s Report.’ This
makes it very clear what follows. The word ‘independent’ is important as this clearly communicates
that the auditor is free of conflicts of interest with the entity being audited. Also, note that the
addressee of the letter is the Board of Directors. As previously mentioned, the reporting
relationship of the auditor is to the Board and not the staff or management of the agency. The first
paragraph of the audit opinion lays out the scope of the audit. The audit opinion identifies the
entity being audited and the timeframe of the fiscal year under audit. Next, the auditor specifically
identifies the statements being audited:




Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Activities
Statement of Cash Flows

Together these three financial reports and the related footnotes make up the financial statements. It
is required that all three financial reports and the footnotes be included in the financial statements.
It is not acceptable to pick and choose which statement or statements to present. Each statement
has a specific purpose, discussed later in this guide.
The second sentence of auditor’s opinion clearly states that the financial statements are the work and responsibility of
the CAA. Of the basic financial statements, only the audit opinion is produced by the auditor. The financial
statements are required to be produced by the client. In fact, if the auditor significantly assists in the
production of the financial statements, they are required to not opine on the financial statements. If
the auditor prepared the financial statements and then audited them, they would be providing an
opinion on their own work. This would not make much sense and would provide little or no value
to the user of the financial statements. The third sentence of the first paragraph just identifies that
the role of the auditor is to offer his/her opinion on the financial statements. This paragraph simply
lays out the expectations of the user of the financial statements.

Scope Paragraph
The second paragraph of the audit opinion references what professional standards and guides the
audit was conducted under. The first reference is to generally accepted auditing standards. These
are standards that are developed to regulate how an audit must be conducted. The standards are
developed by a professional organization – American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA). This peer group oversees continuing changes to the standards and also monitors the
quality of audits conducted by its members. The Institute can strip members of the right to conduct
audits or require other disciplinary action, such as requiring additional continuing professional
education. Because this is a professional organization, only Certified Public Accountants can issue
audit reports. There are some states that have exceptions to this rule with public accountants
grandfathered into this, but those are the exceptions rather than the rule. It should also be noted the
AICPA is not a governmental organization or agency.
Also in the first sentence is a reference to United States standards. This may seem obvious;
however, the United States uses a different set of accounting rules than the rest of the world. This is
a required reference so the user knows what accounting standards are being used. It should be
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noted that there is debate in the accounting world about eliminating the United States standards and
adopting the international standards. At this point, there are two sets of standards and accordingly
the reference is required.
Government Auditing Standards are referenced. Remember that this is the Yellow Book standards
discussed in the first section. These standards are referenced in a non-profit audit because Federal
money is being reviewed. You would not see this reference in a for profit audit report.
The remainder of the scope paragraph very succinctly lays out what is done in an audit: planning,
testing of transactions on a sample basis, and reporting. This makes it clear that the auditor does
not look at all the transactions in a year, but rather basis her conclusion on a sampling of
transactions.

Opinion Paragraph
The third paragraph of the report actually presents the auditor’s opinion. The example above is what is called
an Unqualified Opinion. This name is perhaps a bit misleading. It sounds almost like a negative.
What it means is that the statements are presented free of material error without qualifications.
Because of the potential for confusion, the unqualified opinion is frequently referred to as a ‘clean’ opinion.
‘Clean’ seems to be clearer to the everyday user of the statements. Remember that the unqualified or clean
opinion does not mean the auditor is passing a value judgment on the financial condition or quality of decisions made,
but rather the financial information presented is an accurate depiction of the transactions that took
place during the year.
The fourth and fifth paragraphs of the opinion are only presented in single audits. If your agency
undergoes a financial statement audit only, or if you are looking at the audit of a for profit company,
you will not see the fourth and fifth paragraphs presented in our example. Generally, the fourth
paragraph notes that testing around internal controls and compliance where conducted during the
audit as required by the yellow book and those opinions are presented later in the document. The
final paragraph refers to the schedule of Federal financial assistance and indicates that it is ‘extra’
information and that it was not specifically audited, but rather reviewed as part of the overall audit.
Qualified Opinion
A qualified opinion is presented by the auditor when the auditor is unable to conclude that the
financial statements are presented without qualification. There are two general situations that would
give rise to this type of opinion:
If there is a deviation from generally accepted accounting principles. If the CAA does
something that does not conform to the accounting rules, the auditor is required to identify that
variation and disclose it in the audit opinion. For CAAs, the typical instance that would cause this
type of opinion to be issued would be not recording depreciation on the books. If this occurred, the
scope paragraph would be modified to begin as “Except as discussed in the following paragraph …”
Also, a paragraph would then be added providing additional detail on the situation causing the
modification. Finally, the opinion paragraph would be modified as “In my opinion, except for the
effects of omitting depreciation in the Organization’s statement of activities, the financial
statements…”
The other situation warranting a qualified opinion is a limitation of scope. This is when the
auditor is unable to perform a certain required test to gather evidence. This usually results from the
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inability to confirm accounts receivable or observe inventory. Neither of these situations is
common in audits of CAAs.
It should be noted that professional audit standards require an auditor to work just as hard to be
able to present an unqualified opinion as a qualified opinion. In other words, it is not acceptable for
an auditor to justify issuing a qualified opinion simply because it is easier; rather it must be the only
available option.
Another important note is that most contracts to provide federally funded grant activities require
that the CAA follow generally accepted accounting principles. Simply put, it may not be allowable
for the CAA to present a qualified audit opinion to the funding source. I highly recommend that if
your agency receives anything other than an unqualified or clean opinion that you require
management to know the ramifications of that opinion.
Adverse Opinion
The third type of opinion is issued when the financial statements, in the auditor’s opinion, do not
conform with generally accepted accounting principles. This means that the auditor, for a reason
that needs to be disclosed in the opinion, has determined that the financial statements presented by
the agency do not accurately present the financial transactions of the agency. This form of opinion
is also extremely rare, as this would not meet the funding requirements for most grants administered
by CAAs. In practice it is typically the case that if there is an instance of accounting that would
require issuance of this type of report, the CAA would make the necessary change on the financial
statements to allow the CPA to issue an unqualified opinion.
Disclaimer of Opinion
The disclaimer of opinion is basically no opinion at all. This report from the auditor simply says that
for some stated reason, the auditor is unable to give either an unqualified or adverse opinion. This
might happen if the auditor is not independent with regard to the CAA. Independence should be
determined before the engagement is started – not after it is complete. Proper management of the
audit process should preclude this from ever becoming an issue.
The most common situation for a disclaimer of opinion is when an ongoing concern is identified.
This situation is also rare and you do not want to receive one of these opinions. This opinion states
that the auditor does not believe this entity will continue to exist. An underlying assumption is that
the CAA will continue in business for at least the next 12 months. If the auditor does not believe
this to be the case, he is obligated to disclaim opinion and indicate his concerns related to the CAA’s
inability to continue to operate. Needless to say, you do not want to receive this type of opinion.
If it appears that a disclaimer of opinion is going to be issued by the CPA, the agency should work
diligently with the audit firm to see if there is any way to get some other opinion issued. As
previously stated, this type of opinion is basically no opinion, so the agency will most likely not meet
its funding requirements which might cut off future funding. The effect of this type of opinion can
be very damaging to an organization, so the Board and management should work hard to avoid this
type of opinion. The auditor is required to obtain evidence on any report they issue, so one action
step would be to review that evidence with the auditor and see if there is any area for additional
procedures to be performed could get the auditor to a different opinion.
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The audit opinion is the result of the audit procedures. Although this report has much standard
language, which may seem confusing, there are very few potential alternatives. The goal for any CAA
audit is the receipt of an unqualified or clean opinion. Most of the other opinions are wrought with potential negative
implications and should be handled with significant urgency by the Board.
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Statement of Financial Position
The first of three required financial statements is the statement of financial position. The equivalent
of the statement of financial position in a for-profit business is the balance sheet. The statement of
financial position is a ‘snapshot’ of the non-profit’s financial condition at any point in time, usually
the end of the fiscal year. Generally, the statement of financial position lists the assets, liabilities and
net assets of an organization.

ASSETS
Less: LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

Assets
Assets are the things owned by the organizations. Typically, a statement of financial position starts
with the assets. They are usually listed in the order of liquidity, or the speed at which the asset can
be turned into cash. Sometimes a classified statement is used, which breaks assets into current assets
or long-term assets. Current assets are cash or other assets which can be turned into cash within
one year or the operating cycle of the organization, whichever is shorter. Long-term assets are
basically anything that is not current, or something that is not cash and cannot be converted into
cash within one year or the operating cycle.
Each CAA will have different lines on their statement of financial position, but a few of the most
common are below:
Cash and cash equivalents. Petty cash in the office is part of this category. Generally, cash in
bank or the checking account is the most common item on CAA statements of financial position.
Cash in checking is presented net of outstanding checks. Once a check is issued, it is assumed the
cash is out the door. Accordingly, the bank balance of cash and the cash on the statement of
financial position will seldom, if ever, be the same number.
Accounts or grants receivable. In CAAs, the biggest receivables are the cash due the agency
which has not yet been received from the running of grants. There is typically a delay (potentially 30
days) from the time a CAA spends money related to a grant, until the time it receives reimbursement
of those funds. As the CAA is entitled to the receipt of the cash, this is considered an asset. Some
CAAs also collect other fees for services. Once the service is rendered, a receivable is recorded on
the CAA books to indicate the amount it is owed. One additional complexity with receivables is
that generally accepted accounting principles require that we offset receivables that we are entitled
to, but do not anticipate receiving with an allowance account. The allowance account is a
subtraction from the overall receivables which then produces a net receivable that we show on the
statement of financial position that should represent the amount of cash that we actually expect to
receive in the future.
Prepaid expenses. In the normal course of business, we may pay for things before we actually
use them up. These items are assets as we have exchanged one asset (cash) for another asset (future
benefit). January office rent that is paid in December should be classified as a prepaid expense, an
asset, on the December statement of financial position as we will not use up this rent until January.
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Similarly, health insurance and other benefits paid for employees are paid near the end of the month
proceeding the month they are actually intended for. Another broad category of prepaid items are
items purchased once during the year that benefit the whole year. For example, general agency
insurance is typically paid for once a year, yet it benefits each month of the year. By recording the
unused portion as a prepaid expense, we spread the cost of the insurance over the 12 months of the
year that benefit from the payment.
Property and equipment. Most CAA agencies have office furniture that they own. Many also
have equipment for the operations of their programs. This may be classroom equipment for a Head
Start classroom or weatherization equipment for weatherization programs. For grant purposes, we
show the purchase of this equipment as an expense. This allows us to be reimbursed from the
funding source for the cash we are out of pocket for the acquisition of the items. For generally
accepted accounting principles, we are required to capitalize this equipment. This means that we put
the original cost on the statement of financial position and depreciate the cost. To depreciate items
we determine the estimated useful life of an asset and spread that cost over that period of years.
Each year, we recognize depreciation expense for the pro-rata share of the asset that is ‘used up’ in
that particular year. For those CAA agencies that own their own office building, the cost of the
building is handled exactly the same way as equipment cost (only the useful life of a building is
substantially longer than a piece of equipment). In this case, the land is not depreciated. Rather it is
carried on the books at its purchase price going forward. It is important to note that the original
cost of the land, building or equipment is used going forward – we do not record the market value
of the asset, rather its historical cost.

Liabilities
Liabilities are the items owed by the organization to others. These might be amounts owed to
vendors or our own employees. Some typical liabilities often seen on CAA financial statements are:
Accounts payable. These are amounts owed to vendors of the CAA. When we receive a good or
service, we record the expense for that good or service on our books and the related accounts
payable. This is so we match up the revenue and expense in the same accounting period. We want
the expense to show on the financial statements for the period it provided benefit to the
organization. When we actually pay the vendor is a cash flow item, but not an operating statement
item.
Accrued payroll and related items. Employees provide significant service to our
organizations. It is usually the largest expense category on a non-profits statement. Seldom do pay
periods and financial statements month or year ends line up. At the end of a fiscal period we accrue
(or put an expense on our books) for the payroll related costs through the end of that fiscal period,
regardless of when we actually pay the employee. This category would include salaries and wages
earned but not yet paid. It also includes payroll taxes incurred but not yet paid. Finally, this
category also includes the value of paid time off, vacation earned but not yet taken by the employee
and in certain circumstances sick time that is earned but not yet taken.
Deferred revenue. Most CAAs run their grant programs on a reimbursement basis. This means
that the CAA makes an expenditure for a grant related purpose then requests reimbursement from
the funding source and receives the cash reimbursement at a later date. Some grants allow the CAA
to receive the cash up front then earn the cash received. In this later case, if the CAA has received
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more cash than it has earned for the period, the difference is a deferred revenue, as that cash is
technically owed back to the funding source at the end of the fiscal period.

Net Assets
The third and final element on the statement of financial position is net assets. Net assets is simply
the difference between assets (items owned) less liabilities (items owed). In a for-profit business this
is referred to as owner’s equity or retained earnings. In a non-profit organization there is no owner,
rather it is what the non-profit owns net of what it owes. It is the result of simple subtraction.
The complication for non-profits is not the computation of total net assets, but rather the further
required classification of net assets. For a non-profit, net assets must be delineated into three
classifications:
Permanently restricted. These are assets that have been contributed to the organization that
have donor-imposed restrictions that must be permanently maintained by the non-profit. These
types of funds are rare, but not unheard of for CAAs. These are the assets that are contributed to
an endowment for the organization, where the principal must be held forever, but the earnings may
or may not be spent, depending on the restrictions by the donor.
Temporarily restricted. These are assets of the CAA that came with donor-imposed
restrictions that expire either with the passage of time or by the organization taking specified action.
This is typically seen when a contribution is given to a CAA to be used over a one year period of
time.
Unrestricted. In its simplest term, this is everything else that is not either of the top two. These
are net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions or where donor-imposed
stipulations are met in the year of the contribution. In most cases, grants received by CAAs fall into
this category.

How to Use a Statement of Financial Position
What are some of the key components you may want to use as a Board member from the statement
of financial position?
1. Is there a positive cash balance? If there is no or little cash in the agency, how long can it
survive?
2. How many months are in grants receivable? The general rule of thumb is you want no
more than 30 days (one month) of amounts owed to the CAA. Of course, this is not always
controllable by the CAA – the funding source may be slow to pay. Are we doing everything
we can to minimize the period of time to get our cash reimbursed?
3. How old are accounts payable? You want to pay your vendors timely. The general rule is
that invoices are paid within 30 days. Holding on to payment of invoices may damage our
relationship with vendors.
4. Are we paying employees timely? Typically, you would hear if you are not. Even more
important to our success than vendors is our employees. We want to keep them happy with
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timely payment. Further, in many states it may be illegal to withhold payment from
employees for any reason.
5. Are we timely paying our payroll taxes? Paying payroll taxes is not optional. Not
submitting payroll tax returns and/or the related payments can quickly shut down an agency
and potentially expose Board members to personal liability for unpaid balances.
6. Is our unrestricted net assets large enough to allow us adequately flexibility to
operate? A rule of thumb is that we should have 10% - 25% of annual expenditures in
unrestricted net assets. This allows the typical CAA enough operating room to up front the
cash for grants and adequate time to get reimbursed.
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Statement of Activities
The second of three required financial statements is the statement of activities. The equivalent of
the statement of activities in a for-profit business is the operating statement or the income
statement. The statement of activities shows the operating results for the period of time presented.
This statement presents the revenue or income of the agency and the related expenses or
expenditures. Finally, the statement of activities comes down to a change in net assets or net income. The
statement of activities represents a period of time (perhaps a fiscal year) rather than the statement of
financial position which presents a point in time. Generally, the statement of activities starts with
revenue for the year and subtracts expenses for the year to arrive at change in net assets for the year
for the organization.

REVENUES
Less: EXPENSES_________
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
Non-profits are responsible for what is commonly referred to as a double bottom line. In a forprofit business, results are all about the largest possible bottom line (profit). In non-profits, properly
balancing available resources with needed expenses is important, but so is maximizing the non-profit
mission and delivering the maximum amount of services possible.

Revenues
In CAAs the largest revenue is the grant revenue from grant funded projects. Typically, grant
revenue is earned on a reimbursement basis. This means that we make an expenditure for an
approved cost and we are subsequently reimbursed for that expenditure. When this whole cycle is
completed, the net impact is zero on the bottom line. For example, we weatherize a home for
$5,000 and we subsequently receive $5,000 in grant revenue. As long as all of our expenditures are
for allowable costs, our grants revenue and related expenses should equal zero. The challenge on
operations for grant funded programs is either incurring an expense for which we cannot be
reimbursed (unallowable cost) or for overspending a grant (spending more for grant related
purposes than we will be reimbursed). Either of these situations can generate a negative balance that
we then have to have some other source of revenue to cover.
Closely related to grant revenue is program income. Program income for CAAs is revenue that is
generated because we have grant related operations. One example of program income is energy
rebates received from a utility company because we have weatherized homes. Another example
might be a small fee that is charged on a sliding scale for dental checkups at a grant funded clinic.
Federal rules require that when program income is earned that it be used within that same program
for the same purposes. So in the example, it would be possible to use the energy rebates to
weatherize additional homes or to use the fees collected at the dental clinic to offer additional checkups. A seldom used alternative to this method is to use program income to offset what would
normally be reimbursed from funding sources. This later method does not increase the potential
delivery of services.
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Other common revenues for CAAs include interest income, rent, and contributions. Some CAAs
have operations that can generate profits or losses and do not necessarily net to zero. CAAs with
housing activities have rent income.

Expenses
Expenses are recognized on the books when goods or services are received. For a non-profit
organization expenses are categorized into three main headings on the statement of activities:


Program expenses. Program expenses are the expenses necessary for the delivery of the
services provided by the CAA. A typical CAA may have some or all of the following:
o Child education
o Weatherization
o Energy assistance
o Community services
o Child care assistance
o Housing assistance



Management and general. These are the expenses related to the administration of the
agency. These expenses can be reported as one item or the actual types of expenses can be
broken out.



Fund raising. If the agency conducts significant fund raising, the costs to raise the funds
must be split out as a separate category. Not all CAA financial statements have this line.

Either in an additional schedule or in a footnote to the financial statements a functional report
should be presented to help the user understand the functional expenses presented in the report.
Some of the expenses may include:


Personnel (includes salaries, wages and fringe benefits)



Supplies



Travel



Contract Services



Rent



Other or miscellaneous

The desired presentation of financial statements includes presenting comparable data for the prior
year. This is not a requirement, but rather a recommendation. This allows the user of the financial
statements to compare current year operations with prior year. The user then can make some
beginning conclusions on whether the financial condition of the organization is improving or
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declining. If two years of activity is shown for the statement of activities, then two years data must
also be shown for the statement of financial position and the statement of cash flows.

How to Use the Statement of Activities
As a Board member, the statement of activities provides significant information on the financial
activities of the agency for the previous fiscal year. Some questions that you may be able to answer
from the statement of activities or that agency staff can help you ascertain for the statement are:
1. Did we receive more or less grant revenue in the current year, than in the previous
year? If the revenue amount is less, is it because we got smaller grants or did we lose a type
of grant? If we lost a grant, why? What did we do wrong? How are we going to make sure
we correct this action? If we received more, are we able to deliver what is required? Did we
need to hire more staff to accommodate the new grant?
2. If we received program income, what program did it relate to and how did we spend
the program income?
3. Did we receive contributions in the current year? If we did, how did we spend those
funds? If we did not receive contributions, why not? Can we do some fundraising to
enhance our financial position?
4. How much did we spend on management and general expenses? Generally, the goal
is about 10% of total costs or less should be spent on this category. If we spent more than
this, how did we recover those funds (which grants were we able to charge those expenses
to?)
5. If we raised contribution revenue, what were the fund raising costs associated with
raising those funds? Did it cost us more to raise the contributions or were we efficient in
our fundraising?
6. Did we have a surplus (“net income”) for the year, in other words did we have a
positive increase in net assets for the year? If so, congratulate staff on a job well done.
If not, what caused the loss? How have we made sure that we will not have a loss next year?
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Statement of Cash Flows
The third and final statement required for a complete set of financial statements is a Statement of Cash
Flows. This is one statement that is the same between a for-profit business and a nonprofit
organization. The purpose of the cash flow statement is to detail what happened with cash during
the year. Like the statement of activities the statement of cash flows is for a period of time, typically
a fiscal year. The difference between a cash flow statement and a statement of activities is, as the
name implies, the statement of cash flows only tracks the actual cash in and cash out during the year.
A statement of cash flows removes the impacts of accounts and grants receivable and accounts
payable. The basic outline of a statement of cash flow is:
Net cash provided by operating activities
Plus: Net cash provided by investing activities
Plus: Net cash provided by financing activities__
=CHANGE IN CASH FOR THE YEAR

Plus: Cash at the beginning of the year_________
CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Cash Provided by Operations
Cash provided by operations is the cash generated by the CAA in the ordinary activity of operating.
This section starts with change in net assets from the statement of activities. This section then
adjusts off the non-cash activity that was included to get to the bottom line. Expenses like
depreciation and allowance for bad debts are ‘paper only’ expenses, in other words, we did not
actually write a check for these expenses. These non-cash expenses get added back to the net
change in net assets. The final item in this category is to adjust the net change in net assets for the
changes in operating assets and liabilities. Changes in the following accounts for the year either add
to or subtract away from cash resulting from operations:


Accounts and/or grants receivable



Prepaid expenses



Accounts payable



Accrued payroll and related expenses

When all of the above items are netted together, the result is net cash provided by operating
activities or net cash used by operating activities. The desired outcome is for this number to be
positive. In a for profit business, this is the key number that a banker looks at to determine whether
a business is able to successfully pay its debt. This is less a consideration in non-profit
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organizations, but this sub-total does tell the user whether the CAA is able to pay for the services it
offers with the available resources that it is capable of generating.

Net Cash Provided or Used in Investing Activities
This section of the cash flow statement summarizes all the activity related to the investing activities
of the CAA for the year. The most common activity in this section of the statement for CAAs is the
funds used to acquire furniture, fixtures or other equipment. Funds spent in this section are shown
as uses of cash. If the CAA has invested funds in endowments or other types of investments, the
ins and outs of cash would also be presented in this section. Typically, this section of the cash flow
statement nets to a negative or a use of cash. In this section, a negative (use of cash) is actually
considered a good thing. This is indicative of an organization that is investing cash back into the
organization. This type of activity would indicate the agency is thinking about future growth and
preparing itself. Of course, as with most things, too much of a ‘good thing’ can be bad. If too many
resources are tied up for the long-term without any way to recover those funds, this may indicate
that a lack of flexibility exists in the organization and it may not be able to weather a future crisis.

Net Cash From Financing Activities
This section of the cash flow statement shows where cash is being raised from to support longerterm investments. The typical activity in this section revolves around the issuance of long-term debt
and the subsequent repayment of that debt. This section is frequently the means to generate cash
that is spent in the previous section of the cash flow statement.
The three sections are then summarized on the bottom to get a net increase or net decrease in cash
for the year. Generally, an increase in cash is considered positive and a decrease is a negative. Of
course this is not always the case. If there was an intentional plan for the year to use cash for a onetime event, to respond to an emergency situation or take advantage of a financial opportunity, then a
decrease in cash may be fully rational. This change in cash for the year is then added (or subtracted)
to the beginning of the year cash, which gives us the end of the year cash. This number should be
the same number that is on the statement of financial position.

How to Use the Statement of Activities
The statement of cash flow provides some unique information for you as a Board member. This is
probably the statement least understood by users of financial statements. Some potential questions
you may want to consider when reviewing your agency’s statement of cash flows:
1. If the cash provided by operating activities is significantly negative, what caused
negative cash flow from operations? How are going to cover the operating cash deficit?
How do we make sure this does not repeat next year?
2. Are there any individual asset or liability accounts with large changes? What caused
the increase or decrease?
3. If there was significant cash used in investing activities, what was the cash used for?
What are the future plans for the items purchased with cash? Are these plans realistic?
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4. If cash flow from financing activities is the result of significant borrowing, can the
organization afford to repay the debt in the future? What are the plans to generate cash
to be able to service the debt?

This ends our discussion of the three basic financial statements. It is important to note the
interconnectedness of these three statements. All three statements are required to be in compliance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Each of the statements presents some unique piece
of the financial position of the organization and no one statement alone provides the whole picture.
The statement of activities comes down to an increase or decrease in net assets for the year. When
added to the beginning of the year net assets, we get ending net assets, which is on the bottom of
the statement of financial position. The change in net assets from the statement of activities is the
first line on the statement of cash flows. The statement of cash flows concludes with ending cash
balance. The ending cash balance is the first line on the statement of financial position. The
statement of activities and the statement of cash flows should always be read in conjunction with
each other. Both statements present the results of operations for the year (each from a different
perspective). They both feed the statement of financial position which tells us where we are at the
end of the fiscal year, as we begin our new fiscal year. Together it is a complete financial story of the
organization for the year ended and our starting point for the year about to begin.
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Footnotes
Although the Footnotes are not a statement, they are an important part of the complete financial
statements. The purpose of the footnotes is to provide the user of the financial statements
additional information. The importance of the footnotes is evident from the comment “See
accompanying notes to financial statements” that is on the bottom of each of the three basic
financial statements. Generally accepted accounting principles require additional information, in the
form of a footnote, whenever certain elements are available. The issuer of financial statements is
always able to present additional footnotes to the financial statements, but the issuer is never able to
present less than the minimum required.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
This is always the first footnote presented after the three financial statements. The general format
for this footnote is typically the same for most issuers. The following is a list of the components in
the first footnote:


Nature of operations. This is an overview paragraph of the CAA. It includes such items
as the legal name, the fact that it is a non-profit organization, the year it was founded, the
mission of the organization, the services provided by the organization, and from where the
agency receives its funding.



Basis of presentation. This section states that the financial statements are presented on the
accrual basis of accounting and prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles.



Classification of net assets. The three categories of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily
restricted and permanently restricted are defined.



Use of estimates. Disclosure that financial statements are prepared using estimates. Such
estimates include depreciation and allowance for bad debts.



Revenue recognition. The unique accounting related to grants is disclosed.



Cash and cash equivalents. What is included in cash for the statement of financial
position and the cash flow statement is defined.



Accounts receivable. A definition of what is in accounts and/or grants receivable as well
as the fact that an allowance for uncollectible or doubtful accounts is included in the
financial statements to present a net receivable.



Property and equipment. The capitalization policy (at what dollar level is an item
capitalized instead of expensed) of the agency is disclosed. Also, the method of depreciation
is detailed.



Income taxes. The fact that the CAA is tax exempt and does not pay income taxes is
provided.
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In-kind contributions. The valuation method for in-kind goods and services and what is
included in the financial statements as revenue and expense is spelled out.



Cost allocation. A very brief statement on the method of cost allocation is presented.

Major Footnotes
There are numerous instances requiring footnote disclosure. The following is not to be considered
an exhaustive list:


Concentration of credit risk. Cash deposits in excess of FDIC coverage must be disclosed
as this is a potential loss if there is a bank failure.



Grants receivable. The source of major grants receivable must be disclosed.



Property and equipment. Major classes (land, buildings, furniture and fixtures, and
equipment) must be presented. Also, the depreciation expense for the year must be stated.



Long-term debt. The amount of each loan payable, the related security, the repayment
terms, the interest rate and the due date of the note. Also, the required principal repayments
for the next years are to be scheduled out.



Temporarily restricted net assets. A detailed listing of the elements of each component
of temporarily restricted net assets and the related dollar amount are to be scheduled.



Retirement plan. A description of any retirement plan, such as a 401(k) plan, who is
covered, the match if any, and the amount contributed for the current year is presented.



Operating leases. A brief description of all significant lease obligations with yearly
amounts for future years must be disclosed.



Subsequent events. Any major financial event (such as loss of a major funding source,
destruction of a significant asset, incurring of a major legal liability,) shall be disclosed with
an estimate of the related future financial impact.

The purpose of the footnotes to the financial statements is to provide additional detail on the
financial information presented in the financial statements of the CAA. The issuer of financial
statements is always encouraged to give a realistic picture of the financial position of the
organization, even when this may be considered negative. Withholding information from the user
of the statements is not permitted. The auditor is required as part of their audit opinion to ascertain
whether the issuer of the statements has adequately disclosed the significant financial realities of the
entity before the auditor may offer an unqualified or clean opinion.
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Internal Controls
Before we delve into the actual report on internal controls that is presented in a single audit, it is
important to briefly review the concept of internal controls.

Internal Controls Defined
There are numerous definitions of internal control. Generally, in accounting and auditing, internal
controls are an organization’s processes that insure the accomplishment of an entity’s goals or
objectives. These processes include the organization’s governance, corporate structure, work flows,
people, policies, procedures and information systems. Sound internal control means these processes
are directed, monitored and measured. Frequently, internal controls are key in detecting fraud and
protecting an entity’s assets.
The ultimate authority on internal controls is the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The COSO internal control integrated framework defines internal
control broadly as a process, effected by an entity’s Board, management, and other staff designed to
provide reasonable assurance that goals in the following categories will be achieved: effectiveness
and efficiency of operations; reliable financial reporting; and, compliance with laws and regulations.
Under COSO, internal controls are defined as having five main components:
1. Control environment sets the tone for the organization. Simply put, this means that
policies, procedures, and communication make ethical and legal behavior in all matters a
foundational expectation.
2. Risk assessment is an analysis of the organization that identifies significant risks present in
the operating environment that threaten the achievement of the organization’s goals and
objectives.
3. Information and communication are the systems that support the exchange of
information between people that allow them to carry out their responsibilities.
4. Control activities are the policies and procedures of an organization that help ensure the
directions of leadership of the organization are carried out.
5. Monitoring is the process of quality control that is conducted over time.
No matter how good the system of internal control is, limitations are always present. Systems of
internal control are designed to achieve reasonable assurance. It would be impractical to put
controls in place that would insure absolute assurance. Also, the concept of cost-benefit analysis
comes into play. For example, if it cost $100,000 to maintain a system of controls that safeguarded
against a potential loss of $500, it would be ridiculous to incorporate this particular control.
Many groups of people have a role in ensuring a successful system of internal control. Three groups
of the many are as follows:
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Management is responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of
adequate internal controls to ensure compliance with laws, regulations and program
compliance requirements.



Board of Directors are key to ensure the proper environment and systems are in place
as part of the governance of the organization.



Auditors must understand the organization, its business environment, and internal
controls to plan and conduct the audit at a low assessed level of control risk.

Internal Control in Single Audit
The scope of internal controls in an organization is all encompassing of almost every facet of the
organization. To review all internal controls of an organization is a major (and expensive)
undertaking. For-profit businesses listed on major United States stock exchanges are required to
conduct a thorough review and evaluation of its internal controls on a multi-year schedule. This
requirement is mandated under Sarbanes-Oxley as a result of some of the large scale corporate fraud
that occurred.
The evaluation of internal controls as part of a single audit is significantly less in scope than a review
that would be required by the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. The review of internal controls for a single audit, however, is required on an annual basis.
The objective of the annual review of internal controls as part of a single audit is the issuance of the
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. An
example of this report follows:
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Example Letter - Independent Auditor’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards
Board of Directors
Example Community Action Agency
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
1

We have audited the financial statements of Example
Community Action Agency (a nonprofit organization) as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, and have
issued our report thereon dated February 1, 2013. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

1. The introductory paragraph indicates
that the purpose of the audit was to
express an opinion on the financial
statements.
2. As part of doing the work necessary to
conduct the audit, the auditor indicates
in this paragraph that they considered
internal controls over preparing those
financial statements.

3. The auditor describes what a deficiency
In planning and performing my audit, we considered
is.
Example Community Action Agency’s internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing my auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Example
Community Action Agency’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion of the effectiveness of the Example Community Action Agency’s internal
control over financial reporting.
2

3

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis.
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4

Our consideration of the internal control over financial
reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that
might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above.
Compliance and Other Matters
5

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether
Example Community Action Agency’s financial statements
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination
of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
6

This report is intended solely for the information and use of
management, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through
entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

4. This paragraph emphasizes that the
purpose of the review was in conjunction
with the audit and not for the purpose of
evaluating internal controls. Also, if
deficiencies in internal control are
identified or if none are identified, it
would be indicated in this paragraph.
5. The auditor explains that as part of the
audit of the financial statements, they
also reviewed compliance of the
organization, but only as it relates to
providing an opinion on the financial
statements. Any noted instances of noncompliance would be described or the
fact that there are none would be
described.
6. The final paragraph of the report limits
who should use the report. This is a
means the auditor uses to limit his/her
exposure on people relying on the report
to say things that it is not intended to
say.

Able & Friendly, C.P.A.s

February 1, 2013
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
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Prior to issuing the above report, the auditor must evaluate the relevant internal controls that are
specific to the scope of the auditor’s opinion. The auditor’s report on internal controls that are the
focus of a single audit review are the internal controls around financial reporting. The goal for the
controls related to this objective is that the CAA should produce accurate financial reports. In order
for financial statements to be accurate, financial information must possess each of the following
characteristics:
1. Existence. Financial reports must possess only valid and authorized transactions. Invalid
transactions must not be included in the financial reports.
2. Occurrence or cutoff. Only transactions that occurred during the correct period are
included in the financial reports. Also, this requires that transactions are processed in a
timely manner.
3. Completeness. All transactions must be included, there can be no omissions.
4. Valuation. The dollar amount of each transaction must be accurate.
5. Rights and obligations. The assets of the entity must be owned and liabilities must be
owed as of the financial statement date.
6. Presentation and disclosure. Items on the financial statements must be accurately
classified and described. Further, appropriate additional information must be presented
when necessary to ensure the financial statement user has enough and accurate information
to make valid decisions.
7. Reasonableness. Financial reports or transactions make sense when compared to other
information or there is a rationale for the variance.
In order to receive an unqualified internal control opinion, the CAA under audit must be able to
demonstrate that its internal control system over financial reporting is capable of ensuring all
transactions and financial reports possess the above stated seven qualities. The procedures typically
employed to reach these objectives and examples of each are presented below:
Segregation of duties. One of the most important procedures in the design of controls is the
segregation of duties. In general, the individuals performing the authorization, custody and record
keeping roles of a transaction should be divided up among numerous individuals.


For the purchase of goods and services, one individual should order the item, someone else
should verify receipt, and yet someone else should cut the check in payment of the invoice.



For cash, the segregation of duties might be designed so that someone requests a check be
issued, a second person prepares the check, and a third person signs the check.

Authorization of transactions. At least two people must agree on a transaction before it can be
executed.


For payroll related transactions this is evident by the employee signing their timesheet and
their supervisor signing the same timesheet indicating her agreement that the stated hours
were actually worked.
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Records retention. Documentation is retained to verify that controls were employed.


For the cash reconciliation process, this would be met by keeping signed bank
reconciliations for seven years.

Supervision. This element requires that there be a proper chain of command.


For example, the accounts payable clerk reports to the finance director who reports to the
executive director.

Physical custody of assets. The assets that are physical assets are adequately protected.


Cash on hand is locked in a safe.



Equipment is stored in a locked warehouse.

Elements of the Report
The auditor’s report on internal control is limited to the internal controls over financial reporting. The first
paragraph on the opinion refers to the fact that an audit was conducted and that the audit was
conducted under generally accepted auditing standards and government auditing standards. This
paragraph simply sets the context.
The next three paragraphs of the report discuss the internal controls over financial reporting for the
auditee. The first of these three paragraphs discloses that the purpose of the single audit that was
conducted was primarily for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements of the
organization – not to express an opinion on the internal controls of the organization. The second of
these three paragraphs describes two potential levels of internal control faults. These two levels are:


Control Deficiency - the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect
misstatements on a timely basis.



Material weakness – a control deficiency or combination that adversely affects the
organization’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in
accordance with GAAP such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement
of the financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or
detected by the organization’s internal control

The final paragraph of this section provides the ‘opinion’ on internal control. The ‘opinion’ that is
given is what is called negative assurance. The auditor is not saying that the internal control structure is
operating perfectly, rather, the auditor is saying that for the portions of the internal control structure
that they reviewed as part of the audit procedures, which is clearly less than the whole system,
nothing came to their attention that meets the above definition of a deficiency and needs to be
reported to those charged with governance of the organization. Negative assurance is different than
positive assurance. Positive assurance is given by the auditor on the financial statements in the
independent auditor’s opinion. In the independent auditor’s opinion on the financial statements, the
auditor says the financial statements fairly present the financial position of the organization.
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If a matter rose to the auditor’s attention in the conduct of their audit, they are required to modify
this opinion and disclose the instance of deficiency. The format for reporting this deficiency is very
structured. The elements are as follows:








Program identifying information (including CFDA)
Criteria citation
Condition (facts found)
Questioned Costs
Effect
Recommendation
Responsible official

An example of a potential internal control finding might look like this:

Finding: ACCOUNT RECONCILIATIONS – ALL PROGRAMS (2009 – 01)
Questioned Costs: None
Condition: Several asset, liability and net asset accounts contain misstated or unidentified balances. These
balances were analyzed and adjusted during audit fieldwork.
Criteria: OMB Circular A-110, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements With Institutions of
Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations Subpart C. 21(b)(1) requires recipients to have a
financial management system that provides accurate, current and complete disclosure of the financial results of
each program. In addition, subpart C.21(b)(3) requires a financial management system that provides adequate
control over all funds, property and other assets.
Effect: Failure to timely reconcile and adjust account balances allows errors to be made and not caught and
corrected, thus allowing inaccurate financial statements and assets that are not adequately controlled.
Recommendation: We recommend that monthly reconciliation responsibility for each general ledger account
be assigned to appropriate person. Any unknown or misstated balance should be investigated and corrected as
soon as possible.
Responsible Official: Ms. Mary Jane Smith, Finance Director
Auditee Response: XYZ CAA agrees with the auditor’s recommendation. A schedule with assigned accounts
will be developed within 30 days. The Finance Director will review all accounts 30 days after month end to
verify that each account has been appropriately analyzed.
Auditor Assessment: The proposed action by XYZ CAA should adequately address this finding.
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Some of the indications of weaknesses in an internal control structure are as follows (This list is not
all inclusive):
















Inadequate account reconciliations
Unsupported adjusting journal entries
Inadequate supervision of staff
Staff lacking appropriate accounting skills
Inadequate sense of ethical environment
Lack of risk assessment
Out of date financial policies and procedures
Lack of financial monitoring
Untimely financial processing
Internal Control Findings
Lack of segregation of duties
Inadequate approval processes
Undocumented cost allocation process
Inadequate support documentation
Reimbursement requests not reconciled to general ledger

The next section of this report is called Compliance and Other Matters. This section refers to
compliance with the laws and regulations that effect the overall operation of the CAA (discussion of
single audit compliance with programs appears in the next section.) Some examples of laws and
regulations that are reported in this paragraph include, but are not limited to:





OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration)
Internal Revenue Service, related to tax exempt status and timely filing of required tax
reporting
State Corporate law
Employment law

As a Board member, it is important to review this report and note if it is anything but an unqualified opinion. Many
agencies will have a finding or two from time to time in this section. Having a finding is not the end
of the world, but an unqualified opinion is clearly the goal. It is possible that an internal control
finding, depending on its severity, may have negative implications for receiving grants.
As a Board member it is important to balance your response on a potential finding. A prudent Board member
needs to understand the reason for the finding. Discuss the instance with the auditors, preferably
without management staff present, but as a full Board (or Audit Committee) not one-on-one. After
gaining a full grounding of the situation with the auditors, discuss the situation with agency
management. Management should generate a corrective action plan. Make sure this corrective
action plan is followed and implemented. Too often a Board reacts sternly to a finding, then never
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brings up the situation again. What is not acceptable is when a finding is allowed to go uncorrected. One of
the first procedures an auditor will conduct in the subsequent year is to follow up on the status of
findings from the prior year. If the auditor finds the same situation, they are required to disclose the
finding again in their subsequent year’s report with an indication that it is from a prior year and it is
still unresolved. Unresolved findings will most certainly have implications with funders that are not
desirable. Further, not resolving findings in internal controls is in itself an internal control weakness
and may very well mean the presentation of an additional finding.
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Compliance
A single audit has three components: financial, internal control, and compliance. The third and
final phase, compliance, is the portion of the audit that makes a single audit the most unique of any
of the other components. The single audit compliance testing is divided into two main phases:
planning and testing.

Planning Phase
OMB Circular A-133 governs the practice of the single audit in general, and the compliance testing
in particular. The first test necessary is to determine whether the CAA is a high or low risk auditee. The auditor
must first gather evidence through evaluation and inquiry and determine whether the auditee has a
difficult time ensuring compliance with federal regulations for federal funds. If the auditor can
determine through evidential matter that the auditee has the appropriate systems in place that should
be able to ensure compliance with the laws and regulations, the CAA can temporarily be classified as
a low risk auditee. If the auditor determines that the systems used by the agency to administer
federal funds cannot reasonably be expected to ensure federal funds are spent within the context of
federal laws and regulations, the auditee must be classified as a high risk auditee. For the auditees
temporarily classified as low risk, they must meet each of these four requirements or the audittee is
reclassified as high risk:
1. Single audits under A-133 must have been performed in each of the last two years.
2. The independent auditor’s opinion on the financial statements must have been unqualified.
3. In each of the prior two audits, there must not have been any material weaknesses.
4. In each of the prior two audits, there must not have been any findings related to major
programs.
The significance of the low risk/high risk classification is important in the total amount of testing
that must be done by the auditor. If the CAA is classified as low risk, 25% of federal expenditures
must be tested. On the other hand, if the CAA is classified as high risk, 50% of the total federal
financial assistance must be tested.
The next step in the planning process is to evaluate the preliminary schedule of federal assistance.
This schedule should be prepared by the CAA, not the auditor. This schedule lists out each grant
received from the federal government. The schedule includes the name of the grant, the funding
period, the amount of the grant and the amount of the federal funds earned in the fiscal period. The
schedule is organized by Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number. Each federal
grant is funded under specific federal legislation and each of these has a specific CFDA number. All
the grants expended under each CFDA number are accumulated. The total amount of federal
assistance received by the CAA is multiplied by 3%. The result of this or $300,000 is used as the
threshold for determining Type A programs. Any CFDA number meeting the above threshold is
classified as a Type A program. All other federal programs (CFDA numbers) are given a Type B
classification.
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Next, the CPA does a risk assessment on the controls that are in place at the agency related to
ensuring compliance with federal laws and regulations. Upon the completion of this assessment, the
auditor determines the likelihood that errors can be made in ensuring the compliance with laws and
regulations expenditures under each program. If the auditor assesses a low risk of errors being made
the program is given a low risk designation; conversely, if the auditor assess a high risk of error, the
program is given a high risk designation. If a program is given a Type A – Low Risk, it must also
have been audited in one of the last two years and had no audit findings, otherwise its risk
classification is automatically changed to High Risk. At the conclusion of this phase of planning,
each federal program (CFDA number) will have one of four designations: Type A – High Risk,
Type A – Low Risk, Type B – High Risk, or Type B – Low Risk.
The final phase of the planning process is to determine which specific programs must receive
additional indepth testing. The auditor adds together all the High Risk designations (both Type A
and Type B). If the total dollars spent under these programs equals or exceeds the hurdle
percentage established above (25% or 50%), the selection process is over and these are the programs
that will be tested. If the hurdle percentage is not met, the auditor continues to add Low Risk Type
A programs until the hurdle percentage is met. If all of the Type A – Low Risk programs have been
added and the hurdle has still not been met, the auditor selects programs from the remaining
classification until the hurdle percentage is met.

Testing Phase
Once the programs to be tested have been determined, the auditor consults the OMB Circular A133 Compliance Supplement for guidance. The supplement contains suggested audit procedures to
be performed for each and every CFDA number. First, the auditor will achieve and document an
understanding of the systems of controls in place around each federal program. To verify that the
auditor’s understanding is correct and to ascertain whether the controls as designed are achieving the
intended results, the auditor will test various aspects of the controls including examining individual
transactions. The components for each program that are to be tested for each federal program are:


Activities allowed or unallowed



Allowable costs/cost principles



Cash Management



Davis-Bacon Act



Eligibility



Equipment and real property management



Matching, level of effort, earmarking



Period of availability of federal funds



Procurement and suspension and debarment



Program income
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Real property acquisition and relocation assistance



Reporting



Subrecipient monitoring

The end result of the examination related to compliance is the issuance of the auditor’s report on
compliance.
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Example Letter - Independent Auditor’s Report
on Compliance With Requirements That Could
Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each Major
Program and Internal Control Over Compliance
in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133
Board of Directors
Example Community Action
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
Compliance
1

We have audited Example Community Action’s compliance
with the types of compliance requirements described in the
U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended
December 31, 2012. Example Community Action’s major
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to its major
federal program is the responsibility of Example Community
Action’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on Example Community Action’s compliance based
on our audit.
2

1. The introductory paragraph
indicates to the user the scope of the
procedures performed by the
auditor. This paragraph indicates
that this not an all inclusive
evaluation of compliance, but rather
a review conducted to satisfy the
requirements of a single audit (A133).
2. The standards paragraph references
the different authoritative literature
that was used to form the basis of
the procedures performed.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Example
Community Action’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
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for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on Example Community Action’s
compliance with those requirements.
3

In our opinion, Example Community Action complied, in all material respects, with the
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012.
Internal Control Over Compliance
4

The management of Example Community Action is
responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal
programs. In planning and performing our audit, we
considered Example Community Action’s internal control over
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and
material effect on a major federal program to determine the
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion
on compliance and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not
express any opinion on the effectiveness of Example
Community Action’s internal control over compliance.
5

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when
the design or operation of a control over compliance does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

3. The introductory paragraph
indicates to the user the scope of the
procedures performed by the
auditor. This paragraph indicates
that this not an all inclusive
evaluation of compliance, but rather
a review conducted to satisfy the
requirements of a single audit (A133).
4. The standards paragraph references
the different authoritative literature
that was used to form the basis of
the procedures performed.
5. The definitions paragraph defines
deficiency and material weakness.
6. The opinion paragraph once again
states the limited nature of the
evaluation. This paragraph also
clearly states whether or not
deficiencies in internal controls over
compliance were discovered, but does
not give an opinion on internal
controls overall. This is negative
assurance.

6

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purposes described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.
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7

This report is intended solely for the information and use
of management, federal awarding agencies, and passthrough entities and is not intended to be and should not
be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

7. The final paragraph simply limits who
should use this report and for what purposes so
that it is not used for something that is not
intended.

Able & Friendly, C.P.A.s

February 1, 2013
Eau Claire, Wisconsin
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The first three paragraphs of the opinion specifically relate to compliance. The initial paragraph of
this section sets the scope of the review as being in the context of the financial audit. Further this
paragraph also clarifies that compliance with laws and regulations is the explicit responsibility of
management. Finally, the scope of the opinion is limited to the major programs of the CAA. The
major programs are the programs selected for testing identified in the earliest portion of this
chapter.
The second paragraph of this section provides a listing of the standards under which this evaluation
was conducted. The paragraph repeats that an audit is a sampling of transactions and not every
transaction. Finally, it clarifies that this audit does not provide a legal determination.
The third paragraph offers the opinion of the auditor of the CAA’s system of compliance related to
major federal programs.
The second section of the opinion relates to internal control over compliance. This section
identifies, once again, that management is responsible for internal controls, this time specifically over
compliance with federal laws and regulations. This section further clarifies that the auditor did not
evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls over compliance. The definition of a deficiency is
provided. If there was a deficiency, it would be disclosed in this section of the report. The opinion
is provided, which is negative assurance related to these internal controls.
As a Board member, the response to this report is almost identical to the previous report. Ask
questions to inform yourself, get the corrective action plan from management and make sure the
corrections are implemented.
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Additional Reports
The remaining portions of the financial statements are:


Schedule of Federal Award Expenditures



Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs



Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

As previously stated, the Schedule of Federal Award Expenditures is categorized by CFDA number.
Under each CFDA number, all the grants received by the CAA under that particular CFDA are
listed. Grants are listed by name of the grant, funding source, time period of the grant, and amount
of expenditures made under that grant.
The Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs provides additional information on internal control
and compliance findings and questioned costs, if any.
The Schedule of Prior Audit Findings lists findings from the prior year and the current year status of
those findings.
All of the information from the reports, schedules, and opinions discussed in the previous portions
of this document are required parts of the audited financial statements under a single audit. Certain
accounting firms’ presentations may vary. The order of information may be different between
preparers of the reports. It is also possible for some information to be combined into fewer
schedules. However, the information in its totality must be presented somewhere in the financial
report for it to be complete.

Reporting Package
In addition to the audit document, an additional letter to the Board is also a standard document.
This document has the following required contents:











Internal control deficiencies not reported elsewhere
Significant accounting policy changes
Accounting estimates
Audit adjustments
o Passed audit adjustments
Disagreements with management
Consultations with other independent accountants
Required Communications
Issues discussed prior to retention of independent auditors
Difficulties encountered in performing the audit
Other matters
o Management suggestions
o New audit standards
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Example Letter – Letter to the Board

Best, CPAs
457 Magnum Drive
Ann Arbor, MI 31223
March 15, 2013
Board of Directors
Anytown CAP
Ann Arbor, Michigan
We have audited the financial statements of Anytown CAP (Organization) for the year ended
December 31, 2012, and have issued our report theron dated March 15, 2013. Professional
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under United
States generally accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information related to the planned
scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated
October 17, 2012 and in our meeting with the Audit Committee on October 20, 2012. Professional
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.
SIGNIFICANT AUDIT FINDINGS

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies used by the Organization are described in Note 1 of the financial
statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was
not changed during the current year. We noted no transactions entered into by the Organization
during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of
their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting
the financial statement were allowances for uncollectible promises to give and accounts receivable;
depreciation lives; valuation of donated materials, rent and services; and, the allocation of expenses
by function.
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Management’s estimates of the allowances for uncollectible accounts (pledges and accounts
receivable) are based on a review of the individual accounts, historical experience and the nature of
the receivable and economic conditions. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are based on
management’s review of the assets and experience with similar assets. The estimated value of
donated materials, rent and services is based on purchase prices of similar goods and services and
management’s experience with similar items. The estimate of the functional expenses allocation is
based on estimates of employees’ time and the activities of the Organization. We have evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used by management to develop these estimates in determining they are
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.
The financial statements disclosures are neutral, consistent and clear.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and
completing our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during
the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. A copy of the adjustments is
available from Management.
In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken
as a whole.

Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
financial accounting, reporting or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that
could be significant to the financial statements of the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that
no such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated April 11, 2013.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation
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involves application of an accounting principle to the Organization’s financial statements or a
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other
accountants.

Supplementary Information
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the
information to determine that the information complies with generally accepting accounting
principles in the United States, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period,
and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.
We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records
used to prepare the financial statements.

Other Audit Findings or Issues
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Organization’s auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our
responses were not a condition to our retention.
* * * * * *
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the
Organization and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.
We thank management and staff for the courtesies extended to us during the course of our work. If
there are any questions regarding our audit or this letter, we would be happy to discuss them with
you.
Best, CPAs
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In addition to the required letter, some accountants also issue a management letter. As a standard
practice, this is still fully allowable under current auditing standards, but the reality is that with all the
disclosure required in various reports and documents throughout the audit process, this is more of a
rarity than it used to be. Also, in practice, many auditors present recommendations and suggestions
that do not rise to the level of required disclosure orally or in writing.
The issuance of a management letter used to be standard practice many years ago as part of any
audit engagement. CPAs used to see this as a way to communicate with the audit client without
communicating necessarily with funding sources, banks or regulators. It was sort of considered
private communication. Recent professional standards have very clearly confirmed that this form of
written communication is not confidential and must be shared with funders upon request.
Accordingly, most auditors now either incorporate their comments within other reports or simply
convey the less significant items orally to their clients. If you are particularly interested in receiving a
management letter, this is a good topic to discuss with a potential audit firm before you contract
with them to perform the audit. You could also make the presentation of a management letter an
expected deliverable in the engagement contract with the audit firm you select.
The final piece of the reporting package is a Data Collection Form (see Appendix C for an example).
This document takes the narrative of the audit report and standardizes the reporting on findings,
types and dollars by CFDA number and summarizes it for reporting purposes. This document is
jointly prepared and certified by the CAA agency and the auditor and is submitted to the federal
government as part of the standard reporting package.
The final document presented here is the management representation letter. This is a letter prepared
by the CAA and addressed to the audit firm. This is not a report that is seen by the general public,
or even the Board for that matter. Rather it is a standard part of the audit process that is required
under generally accepted auditing standards. We are presenting this letter in this document as it has
been referenced in a few places earlier in this guide. We also feel that it is important for the Board
to understand what management is attesting to. Basically, this representation letter describes all the
statements that management of the CAA is telling the auditor are true and valid conclusions. In this
type of audit, management does not certify the financial statement as would occur in the audit of a
public company. The representation letter is one step below that certification, where management
takes responsibility for the financial statements and acknowledges its role in the accurate financial
reporting. An example follows:
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Example Letter – Management Representation
Letter

Anytown CAP
321 Hometown Drive
Ann Arbor, MI 31223
(998) 645.1115
March 15, 2013
Best, CPAs
457 Magnum Drive
Ann Arbor, Michigan 31223
We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Anytown
CAP as of December 31, 2012 and for the year then ended for the purpose of expressing an opinion
as to whether the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position,
changes in net assets and cash flows of Anytown CAP in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the
following representations made to you during your audit. We confirm that we are responsible for
the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, changes in net assets, and cash
flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. We are also responsible for
adopting sound accounting policies, establishing and maintaining effective internal controls, and
preventing and detecting fraud.
Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.
Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of
accounting information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the
judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the
omission or misstatement.
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you
during your audit.
1.

The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and include all assets and liabilities under the
organization’s control.

2.

We have made available to you all:
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a.
b.

Financial records and related data, and all audit or relevant monitoring reports, if any,
received from funding sources.
Minutes of meetings of Board of Directors or summaries of actions of recent meetings
for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

3.

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance
with, or deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

4.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of programs and
controls to prevent and detect fraud.

5.

We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving:
a.
b.
c.

Management,
Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or
Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

6.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the
Organization received in communications from employees, former employees, grantors,
regulators, or others.

7.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of
assets, liabilities, or net asset balances.

8.

We believe the effects of the uncorrected financial statement misstatements summarized in the
attached schedule are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial
statements taken as a whole.

9.

The following, if any, have been properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements:
a.
b.
c.

10.

Related party transactions, including revenues and expenses, loans, transfers, leasing
arrangements, and guarantees and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties.
Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the organization is liable.
All accounting estimates that could be material to the financial statements, including the
key factors and significant assumptions underlying those estimates, and we believe the
estimates are reasonable in the circumstances.

There are no:
a.
b.

Violations or possible violations of laws and regulations and provisions of contracts and
grant agreements whose effects should be considered for disclosure in the financial
statements, as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or for reporting noncompliance.
Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed
by FASB Accounting Standards Codification 450, Contingencies.
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c.
d.

Designations of net assets disclosed to you that were not properly authorized and
approved, or reclassifications of net assets that have been properly reflected in the
financial statements.
Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised us are probable of
assertion and must be disclosed in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 450, Contingencies.

11.

Anytown CAP is an exempt organization under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Any activities of which we are aware that would jeopardize the organization’s taxexempt status, and all activities subject to tax on unrelated business income or excise or other
tax, have been disclosed to you. All required filings with tax authorities are up to date.

12.

There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting
records underlying the financial statements or schedule of expenditures of federal awards.

13.

Anytown CAP has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances
on such assets, other than the capital lease, nor has any asset been pledged.

14.

We have complied with all restrictions on resources (including donor restrictions) and all
aspects of contractual and grant agreements that would have a material effect on the financial
statements in the event of noncompliance. This includes complying with donor requirements
to maintain a specific asset composition necessary to satisfy their restrictions.

15.

We are responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and
grant agreements applicable to us; and we have identified and disclosed to you all laws,
regulations and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data
significant to the audit objectives.

16.

There are no estimates that may be subject to material change in the near term that have not
been properly disclosed in the financial statements. We understand that near term means the
period within one year of the date of the financial statements. In addition, we have no
knowledge of concentrations existing at the date of the financial statements that make the
organization vulnerable to the risk of severe impact that have not been properly disclosed in
the financial statements.

17.

With respect to federal award programs:
a.

b.

We are responsible for complying and have complied with the requirements of the Single
Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations and any other applicable laws and regulations and
provisions of contracts and grant agreements.
We have, in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, identified in the schedule of
expenditures of federal awards, expenditures made during the audit period for all awards
provided by federal agencies in the form of grants, federal cost-reimbursement contracts,
loans, loan guarantees, property (including donated surplus property), cooperative
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c.

d.

e.
f.
g.

h.

i.
j.
k.
l.

m.
n.

agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct appropriations, and
other assistance.
We are responsible for complying with the requirements of laws, regulations, and the
provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to each of our federal programs and
have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of laws, regulations and the
provisions of contracts and grant agreements that are considered to have a direct and
material effect on each major federal program.
We are responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance requirements applicable to federal programs that provide reasonable
assurance that we are managing our federal awards in compliance with laws, regulations,
and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements that could have a material effect on
our federal programs. We believe the internal control system is adequate and is
functioning as intended. Also no changes have been made in the internal control system
to the date of this letter that might significantly affect internal control, including any
corrective action taken with regard to control deficiencies reported in the schedule of
findings and questioned costs.
We have made available to you all contracts and grant agreements (including
amendments, if any) and any other correspondence with federal agencies or passthrough entities relating to federal programs.
We have received no requests from a federal agency to audit one or more specific
programs as a major program.
We have complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements, including
when applicable, those set forth in the “OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement,”
relating to federal awards and have identified and disclosed to you all amounts
questioned and any known noncompliance with the requirements of federal awards,
including the results of other audits or program reviews.
Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant
guidelines in OMB Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations, and Subpart
C, Cost Sharing and Matching, of OMB Circular A-110, Grants and Agreements with Institutions
of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations.
We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that have
varying interpretations, if any.
We have charged costs to federal awards in accordance with applicable cost principles.
We have made available to you all documentation related to the compliance
requirements, including information related to federal program financial reports and
claims for advances and reimbursements.
Federal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are
supported by the books and records from which the basic financial statements have been
prepared, and are prepared on a basis consistent with the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards.
The copies of federal program financial reports provided you are true copies of the
reports submitted, or electronically transmitted, to the respective federal agency or passthrough entity, as applicable.
We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior
audit findings to include all findings required to be included by OMB Circular A-133,
and we have provided you with all information on the status of the follow-up on prior
audit findings by federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all
management decisions.
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o.

We have accurately completed the appropriate sections of the Data Collection Form and
are responsible for the accuracy and completeness of the form as required by OMB
Circular A-133. We are also responsible for preparing and implementing a corrective
action plan for each audit finding.

18.

Government Auditing Standards require the organization to distribute audit reports to the
appropriate organizations. We authorize Best CPAs to distribute our report to the
organizations in the listing we provided to you.

19.

Receivables recorded in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors for sales
or other charges arising on or before the statement of financial position date and have been
appropriately reduced to their estimated net realizable value.

20.

Contributed services and goods have been recorded as contributions in accordance with FASB
ASC 958-605 (formerly SFAS No. 116). Amounts which do not meet the criteria of FASB
ASC 958-605 have been excluded from the basic financial statements and are disclosed in
Note 1 to the financial statements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no events, including instances of noncompliance, have
occurred subsequent to the statement of financial position date and through the date of this letter
that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the aforementioned financial statements or in the
schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Sincerely,

William Williamson, Executive Director

Dan Danielson, Chief Financial Officer

What Every Board Needs to Know

55

State Requirements
In addition to the Federal audit requirements that have been discussed throughout this guide, many
states have audit requirements as well. A number of states have audit requirements based on the
dollar amount of contributions received annually within the state, others base it simply on the fact
that contributions were solicited in that state, and yet others base audit requirements on the amount
of state money granted to the organization. As the permutations of all these complexities are too
numerous to go into here, please review these potential state requirements with your auditor or
potential auditor. The format of the statements, required supplementary schedules, and/or opinions
may also require some modification from the Federal standards discussed throughout this guide.
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Applying the Knowledge
The previous sections of this guide have provided a framework for the audit report and the
information contained within its pages. Hopefully this has provided a background for your role as a
Board member. As previously stated, the intent of this guide is not to transfer knowledge on
everything there is to know about auditing and non-profit finance – that would comprise the
textbooks of a four year degree (or more). Rather the goal is to put enough information that you, as
a Board member, can serve your governance role of due diligence to oversee the stewardship of the
significant financial resources of your Community Action Agency.
To assist in this practical application of your new found knowledge, I would encourage you to look
at the example financial statements contained in Appendices D and E. The two CAAs represented
here are not real Community Action Agencies; however, the financial data is based on real CAAs. In
both cases, the financial statements are amalgamations of two or more sets of real financial data. A
brief description of each of the CAAs follows. Your particular CAA may resemble one or the other
of the following or may be different. Each CAA is unique and no cookie cutter example can
provide all possible financial situations. These are presented as examples only.
ABC CAA (Appendix D) is the more basic of the two financial statements presented. This
particular Community Action Agency only runs two types of Federally assisted projects –
Weatherization Assistance and Community Assistance Block Grants. This type of agency runs
programs only. This type of CAA, of which there are many, does not have for-profit ventures, raise
significant funds through fund-raising or contributions or deal with rental activity. It is funded
annually to do certain tasks. It runs those programs and nothing more.
XYZ CAA (Appendix E) is a more complicated entity. It runs the basic programs that CAAs run –
Head Start, Energy Assistance, Weatherization and Community Service Block Grants. In addition
to the ‘basic CAA services,’ XYZ CAA also owns a commercial office building that is used by its
programs and also leases out space to other like-minded non-profit organizations. This CAA also
does housing programs for the community. In addition to being larger in volume, this CAA also has
a slightly more sophisticated Statement of Financial Position.

What Every Board Needs to Know

57

Exercise
Review the financial statements in Appendices D and E. Search for the answers to the following
questions. In many cases, the exact answer will not be provided in the financial statements, but you
may need to do some computation that includes more than one number, or may use a rule of
thumb. Also, think about what questions you as a Board member, may want to ask management
related to the particular answer that you provide. There are no right or wrong answers, but my
thoughts and guidance on where to find the answers are provided in Appendix F. Answer the same
set of questions for each case study presented.
1. What is the independent auditor’s opinion on the financial statements?
2. Does the organization have adequate cash to operate?
3. Are there adequate resources available to the CAA to pay its short-term (immediate)
obligations?
4. Is the CAA timely billing for and receiving reimbursement for its government grants?
5. Are they paying vendors in a timely manner?
6. Are employees paid in a timely manner?
7. Does the organization have a ‘solid’ net asset position?
8. Is the revenue stream adequately diversified to sustain the organization?
9. Are they operating within their means (I.e. spending only the resources we have available)?
10. Is the percent of costs for administrative purposes reasonable?
11. Are they generating cash from operations? Or using cash in operations?
12. Do any of the footnotes cause you concern?
13. What is the CAAs largest Federal program?
14. What is the auditor’s opinion on internal controls?
15. If there were any deficiencies identified, what were they? As a Board member are you
concerned about these deficiencies?
16. What is the opinion of the auditor on compliance of the Agency?
17. Was a management letter issued by the auditor as part of this engagement?
18. What were the major programs, under A-133, for testing?
19. Was this entity considered low risk by the auditor?
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Appendices
Appendix A – Sample Request for Proposals for Audit Services
Appendix B – Sample Audit Committee Charter
Appendix C – Sample Data Collection Form
Appendix D – Applying the Knowledge - Case Study – ABC CAA
Appendix E – Applying the Knowledge - Case Study – XYZ CAA
Appendix F – Applying the Knowledge – Guide
Appendix G – Additional Resources
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Appendix A - Sample Request for Proposals for
Audit Services
Date
Name
Partner
CPA Firm
Address
Address
Dear

:

Our organization is accepting proposals from CPA firms to provide audit and tax services. We
invite your firm to submit a proposal to us by October 1, 2012, for consideration. A description of
our organization, the services needed, and other pertinent information follows:
Background of Example Community Action Agency
Example Community Action Agency was founded in 1965. We provide services to Washington,
Adam, Quincy and Jefferson counties in New Hampshire. We have a nine member Board of
Directors. Our corporate offices are located in Newbury, New Hampshire. We also have outreach
facilities in Wilson and Henry, New Hampshire. We currently have 112 total employees.
Our sources of funding are as follows:
Head Start
Community Services Block Grant
Energy Assistance
Weatherization
United Way
Contributions
Fund-raising

$4,200,000
611,000
1,870,000
996,000
77,000
125,000
223,000

Prior Audits
We have had a single audit under A-133 for at least the last ten years. Our most recent two years
audits have been unqualified for the financial, compliance and internal control portions of the audit.
Three years ago we had a compliance finding with the Head start program, which has since been
cleared up.
Condition of our Records
Our Finance Director is a Certified Public Accountant with 15 years experience. She has extensive
experience with non-profit organization and used to audit similar Community Action Agencies as
part of her job. She maintains her annual CPE requirement. She has been in her current position
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for 7 years. The finance staff also consist of a payroll accountant, accounts payable clerk, general
ledger accountant and an accounting clerk.
Example Community Action Agency 401(k) Savings Plan
Our 401(k) plan is a defined contribution plan covering all regular employees of Example
Community Action Agency who have attained the age of 21. Employees are eligible to participate
upon completion of six months of employment. The Plan is subject to the provisions of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA).
Services to Be Performed
Your proposal is expected to cover the following services:
1. Annual single audit (A-133) to be completed in compliance with the above filing
requirement and meetings with audit committee and or board of directors, as necessary.
2. Annual audit for the 401(k) plan.
3. Tax filings for the organization and the 401(k) plan.
Key Personnel
Following is the key contact for information you may seek in preparing your proposal:
Ms. Susan Johanson

Finance Director

(611) 555-5555

You may request additional information, review prior financial statements and/or tax returns.
Requests to meet with us or the chair of our audit committee should be coordinated though Ms.
Johanson.
Relationship with Prior CPA Service Provider
Smith Johnson, LLC has been providing auditing services for our organization for the past five
years. We have a positive relationship with Smith Johnson, LLC and this request for proposal is
not meant to suggest otherwise.
In responding to this request, we request the following information:
1. Detail your firm’s experience in providing auditing and tax services to non-profit
organizations in general and Community Action Agencies in particular. Specifically, identify
your experience with programs that we provide.
2. Provide at least three references for current (or past) clients that are most similar to Example
Community Action.
3. Verify your firm’s independence with respect to Example Community Action.
4. Provide a copy of your most recent peer review opinion and the related letter of comment.
5. Discuss commitments you will make to staff continuity, including your staff turnover
experience in the last three years.
6. Identify the five largest clients your firm (or office) has lost in the past three years and the
reasons. Also discuss, in instances where loss of the client was due to an unresolved auditing
or accounting matter, the process of attempting to resolve the issue(s).
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7. Identify the partner, manager, and in-charge accountant who will be assigned to our job if
you are successful in your bid, and provide biographies. Indicate any complaints against
them that have been leveled by the state board of accountancy or other regulatory authority,
if any. Indicate any corrective actions that have been taken by the firm with respect to these
people.
8. Describe how your firm will approach the audit of the organization, including the use of any
association or affiliate member firm personnel and the areas that will receive primary
emphasis. Also discuss the firm’s use of technology in the audit. And finally, discuss the
communication process used by the firm to discuss issues with the management and audit
committees of the board.
9. Set forth your maximum all inclusive fee proposal for the 2012, 2013, and 2014 audits and
tax return preparation, with whatever guarantees can be given regarding increases in future
years. Provide your proposed fee for the review work and for tax preparation.
10. Furnish standard billing rates for classes of professional personnel for each of the last three
years.
11. Describe how and why your firm is different from other firms being considered, and why
our selection of your firm as our independent accountants is the best decision we could
make.
Evaluation of Proposals
Example Community Action will evaluate proposals on a qualitative basis. This includes our review
of the firm’s peer review report and related materials. A committee comprised of staff and Board
members will select the top two or three proposers. These finalists will be brought in for a face-toface interview which will include disclosed questions and undisclosed questions. The committee will
make the final selection and forward to the full Board of Directors for final selection.
Please submit your response to this request for proposal by October 1, 2012. We would also
appreciate a response if you decline to submit a proposal.
Sincerely,
Susan Johanson
Finance Director
Attachments:
Form 990
Form 5500
December 31, 2011 Audit
401 (K) Saving Plan Audit
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Appendix B - Sample Audit Committee Charter
Purpose and Authority

The Audit Committee has been established by the Board of
Directors to assist the Board in discharging and performing the
duties and responsibilities of the Board with respect to the
conduct of the audit and related functions of the organization.
In assisting the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities
related to the Agency’s financial reporting standards and
practices, the Audit Committee shall:




Maintain a direct line of communication between the
Board and the Agency’s independent public accountants
(external auditors). Such responsibilities encompass all
operational functions that have a material effect on the
Agency’s operating results and financial position.
Provide oversight of the audit processes and
communications, as appropriate, with management.

The Audit Committee has the right to exercise any and all
power and authority of the Board with respect to matters
within the scope of this Charge, subject to the ultimate power
and authority of the Board. The Board shall continue to have
the ultimate duty and responsibility to manage or direct the
management of the business and affairs of the Agency.
To fulfill its responsibility, the Audit Committee has the
authority to provide for the conducting of any and all
investigations it deems necessary or appropriate, to contact
directly the independent auditors and other employees and
advisors and require them to provide any and all information,
advice and assistance it deems necessary or appropriate, and to
retain legal, accounting or other advisors it deems necessary or
appropriate. The Audit Committee shall have access to staff
and all information relevant to its responsibilities.
The independent auditors shall report directly to the Audit
Committee, and shall be accountable to the Board, for their
reviews and audits of financial statements and all other
services.
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Composition

1. The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Chair
of the Board of Directors in accordance with the
bylaws.
2. The Audit Committee shall be composed of at least
three, but no more than seven independent members.
An independent committee member is described as
follows:
a.) is not and has not been employed in an
executive capacity of the Agency for at least
five years prior to appointment of the
Committee;
b.) is not a significant advisor or consultant to
the Agency, nor affiliated with any firm that
is;
c.) is not affiliated with a significant supplier
to the Agency;
d.) is not a spouse, parent, sibling, child or inlaw of any person described in a.) through c.)
or of any member of management.
3. The Audit Committee should have access to financial
expertise with experience in reviewing and analyzing
financial statements. This expertise may be provided
by one member of the committee or collectively
among committee members.
4. The Audit Committee may include members not
currently serving on the Board.

Duties

1. The Audit Committee shall meet at least two times per
year. The Audit Committee may ask Agency staff or
others to attend the meetings and provide pertinent
information as necessary. The Audit Committee
should prepare minutes for approval following
meetings that document decisions and action steps.
Meeting minutes shall be provided to the Board.
2. Annually engage an independent public accounting
firm to perform the audit for the ensuing year and
establish the audit fee. Pre-approve any non-audit
services provided by the public accounting firm before
the services are rendered, including preparation of the
IRS Form 990 and other tax/informational filings.
Audit services are recommended to be bid out at least
once every five years, which the Audit Committee
would handle the RFP process.
3. Meet with the external auditors, prior to the
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commencement of the annual audit examination to
review their audit plans, scope and engagement letter
for the coming year.
4. Review with the external auditors, upon completion of
their audit:








contents of their report
capability of the organization’s financial
personnel
cooperation received during the audit
transactions outside of normal organization
business, if any, such as unrelated business
income
changes in accounting principles and practices
compliance under the Agency’s conflict of interest
policies
recommendations for improving internal control,
organizational structure, and operations including
internal controls and procedures relating to
computerized information systems and disaster
recovery plans

5. Review management’s response to the Management
Letter and whether the agreed upon recommendations
have been implemented.
6. Inquire of management and the independent auditors
about significant risks or exposures facing the Agency
and review the steps management has taken or
proposed to take to minimize such risks to the
Agency.
7. Meet with external auditors and management in
separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that
the Audit Committee or these groups believe should
be discussed privately with the Audit Committee.
8. Review all material written communications between
the independent auditors and management, such as
any management letter or schedule of unadjusted
differences.
9. Prior to publication, review all documents containing
the Agency’s financial statements that will be
published.
10. Review IRS Form 990 and state filings for
completeness and confirm that they are timely filed.
11. Annually review the conflict of interest and code of
conduct/ethics policies and check that there are
systems in place for compliance.
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OMB No. 0348-0057
U.S. DEPT. OF COMM.– Econ. and Stat. Admin.– U.S. CENSUS BUREAU

SF-SAC

FORM
(12-15-2009)

ACTING AS COLLECTING AGENT FOR
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

Data Collection Form for Reporting on

AUDITS OF STATES, LOCAL GOVERNMENTS, AND NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS
for Fiscal Year Ending Dates in 2010, 2011, or 2012
Complete this form, as required by OMB Circular A-133, "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations."

PART I

GENERAL INFORMATION (To be completed by auditee, except for Items 6, 7, and 8)

1. Fiscal period ending date for this submission
Month

Day

/

2. Type of Circular A-133 audit

Year

/

2

1

Yes

2

No

5. AUDITEE INFORMATION
a. Auditee name

Annual
Biennial

3

Other –

Months

d. Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number

c. If Part I, Item 4b = "Yes," complete Part I, Item 4c
on the continuation sheet on Page 4.

_

e. Are multiple DUNS covered in this report?

1

Yes

2

No

f. If Part I, Item 4e = "Yes," complete Part I, Item 4f
on the continuation sheet on Page 4.

6. PRIMARY AUDITOR INFORMATION
(To be completed by auditor)
a. Primary auditor name

b. Primary auditor address (Number and street)

b. Auditee address (Number and street)
City

City

State

ZIP + 4 Code

c. Auditee contact
Name

_

State

ZIP + 4 Code

_

c. Primary auditor contact
Name

Title

Title

–

–

d. Primary auditor contact telephone

d. Auditee contact telephone

PR

) –

e. Auditee contact FAX

(

2

_

b. Are multiple EINs covered in this report?

(

1

EV
O I
N E
LY W

4. Auditee Identification Numbers
a. Primary Employer Identification Number (EIN)

_

3. Audit period covered

Single audit
Program-specific audit

1

)

f. Auditee contact E-mail

g. AUDITEE CERTIFICATION STATEMENT – This is
to certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the
auditee has: (1) engaged an auditor to perform an audit
in accordance with the provisions of OMB Circular A-133
for the period described in Part I, Items 1 and 3; (2) the
auditor has completed such audit and presented a signed
audit report which states that the audit was conducted in
accordance with the provisions of the Circular; and, (3)
the information included in Parts I, II, and III of this
data collection form is accurate and complete. I declare
that the foregoing is true and correct.

Auditee
NOT certification
FOR SUBMISSION

NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
Name
certifying
official
NOTofFOR
SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT
FOR SUBMISSION
Title
of certifying
official
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION

Base prints black

Date
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION
NOT FOR SUBMISSION

(

)

–

e. Primary auditor contact FAX

(

)

f. Primary auditor contact E-mail

g. AUDITOR STATEMENT – The data elements and information
included in this form are limited to those prescribed by OMB
Circular A-133. The information included in Parts II and III of the
form, except for Part III, Items 7, 8, and 9a-9g, was transferred
from the auditor’s report(s) for the period described in Part I, Items
1 and 3, and is not a substitute for such reports. The auditor
has not performed any auditing procedures since the date of the
auditor’s report(s). A copy of the reporting package required by
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Smith & Smith

Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Directors
ABC CAA
Cleghorn, Wisconsin

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of ABC CAA (a nonprofit organization) as of
December 31, 2012, and the related statements of activities, and cash flows for the year then ended. These
financial statements are the responsibility of ABC CAA’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of ABC CAA as of December 31, 2012, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 12, 2013, on our
consideration of ABC CAA’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be
considered in assessing the results of our audit.

1

Our audit was performed for the pupose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of ABC CAA
taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of program activity, Schedules A-1 to A-2, and schedule of
expenditures of federal and state awards, Schedule B, which includes the requirements of U.S. Office of
Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Smith & Smith
Smith & Smith

May 12, 2013
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
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ABC CAA
Statements of Financial Position
December 31, 2012 and 2011
Assets

2012

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants receivable
Prepaid expenses

$

2011

0
262,652
7,228

$

40,073
65,047
7,167

Total current assets

269,880

112,287

Furniture and equipment:
Furniture and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

248,889
215,316)

242,321
212,878)

(

Furniture and equipment, net

(

33,573

Total assets

29,443

$

303,453

$

141,730

$

97,289
171,325
187,856

$

0
22,162
41,436

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:
Bank overdraft
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related taxes
Total current liabilities
Net assets - Unrestricted
Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(
$

456,470

63,598

153,017)

78,132

303,453

$

141,730
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ABC CAA
Statements of Activities
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
2012

2011

Revenue:
Grant revenue
Program income
Interest income
Contributions

$ 1,050,611
69,000
23
11,250

Total revenue

1,130,884

818,177

714,892
171,989
12,235
239,887
48,956
11,323
4,871
1,187
1,100
1,206,440

497,235
78,545
4,568
68,008
29,003
9,875
4,215
987
885
693,321

155,593

69,858

1,362,033

763,179

Program expenses:
Personnel and fringe benefits
Supplies
Travel
Contract services
Rent
Communications
Copy and printing
Postage
Insurance
Total program expenses
Management and general expenses
Total expenses
Change in net assets
Net assets - Unrestricted - Beginning of year

(

231,149)
78,132

Net assets - Unrestricted - End of year

($

153,017)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

780,564
23,000
38
14,575

54,998
23,134
$

78,132
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ABC CAA
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
2012
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents:
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash and
cash equivalents used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Grants receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll

($

2011

231,149)

2,438
(
(

197,605)
61)
149,163
146,420

Net cash used in operating activities

(

130,794)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of furniture and equipment

(

6,568)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Bank overdraft
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents - End of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

3,204
(

13,773)
31
11,312)
12,775

(

45,923

(

7,800)

97,289
(

0

40,073)
40,073
$

0

54,998

38,123
1,950
$

40,073
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ABC CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
ABC CAA, (ABC CAA or the “Organization”) was incorporated in 1973. The Organization
was formed to provide resources for the purpose of assisting those suffering the ravages of
poverty in Lehigh and Robert counties, Wisconsin. The Organization is primarily supported
through federal government grants. Approximately 38% of ABC CAA’s revenue is received
under contracts with the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and 61% is
received under contracts with the Department of Energy (DoE).
Basis of Presentation
All financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Classification of Net Assets
Net assets and revenue, expenses, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or
absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization and
changes therein are classified and reported as follows:
Unrestricted Net Assets - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations or where
donor-imposed stipulations are met in the year of the contribution.
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may
or may not be met, either by actions of the Organization and/or the passage of time. When a
restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are transferred to unrestricted net assets and
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. ABC CAA does
not have any temporarily restricted net assets.
Permanently Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they
be maintained permanently by the Organization. Generally, the donors of these assets permit
the Organization to use all or part of the income earned on any related investments for general
or specific purposes. ABC CAA does not have any permanently restricted net assets.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
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ABC CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue Recognition
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to ABC CAA that is, in
substance, unconditional. Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily
restricted, or permanently restricted support, depending on the existence and nature of any
donor restrictions.
Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets
if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized.
Contributions are reported as increases in temporarily or permanently restricted net assets
depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, temporarily restricted
net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as
released from restrictions.
Conditional promises to give are recognized only when the conditions on which they depend
are substantially met and the promises become unconditional. Grants are either recorded as
contributions or exchange transactions based on criteria contained in the grant award.
A. Grant Awards that are Contributions
Grants that qualify as contributions are recorded as invoiced to the funding sources.
Revenue is recognized in the accounting period when the related allowable expenses are
incurred. Amounts received in excess of expenses are reflected as grant funds received
in advance.
B.

Grant Awards that are Exchange Transactions
Exchange transactions reimburse based on a predetermined rate for services performed.
The revenue is recognized in the period the service is performed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of financial statement presentation, ABC CAA considers all highly liquid debt
instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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ABC CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Furniture and Equipment
Furniture and equipment purchased is capitalized at cost and depreciated over its useful life
using the straight-line method. ABC CAA considers items with a cost of $5,000 or more and a
useful life of greater than one year to be equipment.
Income Taxes
ABC CAA is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
ABC CAA is required to assess whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be
sustained upon examination on the technical merits of the position assuming the taxing
authority has full knowledge of all information. If the tax position does not meet the more
likely than not recognition threshold, the benefit of that position is not recognized in the
financial statements. ABC CAA has determined there are no amounts to record as assets or
liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. Federal returns for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2009 and beyond remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts within these financial statements have been reclassified from the prior year.
None of the reclassifications affect previously reported changes in net assets.
Subsequent Events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through May 12, 2013, which is the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.

Note 2

Grants Receivable
Grants receivable represent uncollected direct federal grant awards of $262,652.

Note 3

Concentration of Risk
ABC CAA maintains cash balances at one financial institution which is insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. Management believes the financial
institution has a strong credit rating and credit risk related to these deposits is minimal.
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ABC CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 4

Operating Leases
ABC CAA leases office space for operation of its programs. Rent expense for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $54,802 and $37,444, respectively. Future minimum lease
payments on leases having terms beyond one year are as follows:
2013
2014
2015
Total

Note 5

$

$

68,301
74,897
79,112
222,310

Retirement Plan
ABC CAA has established a SIMPLE retirement contribution plan that covers all full-time
employees. The retirement benefits vest immediately. ABC CAA contributes up to 3% of the
annual compensation of the participating employees. The contributions for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $37,897 and $32,456, respectively.

Note 6

Grant Awards
At December 31, 2012, ABC CAA had received commitments for funding under various grant
awards of approximately $1,404,000. These commitments are not recognized in the
accompanying financial statements as they are conditional awards.

Note 7

Line of Credit
At December 31, 2012, ABC CAA had a line of credit available in the amount of $50,000. The
line of credit had no draws during the year and no outstanding balance at December 31, 2012 or
2011. The line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 2.25 percentage points on
any balance outstanding. The line of credit is secured by ABC CAA’s deposit accounts.

9

Additional Information

ABC CAA
Schedule A-1
Schedule of Program Activity
Year Ended December 31, 2012
PROGRAM ACTIVITY
Department of Health and Human Services
93.569
Assets
Community
Community
for
Services
Services
Independence
Block
Block

Training &
Technical
Assistance
Total
REVENUE
Grant revenue
Program income
Interest income
Contributions
Total Revenue

$

EXPENSES
Personnel and fringe benefits
Supplies
Travel
Contract services
Rent
Communications
Copy
Postage
Insurance
Miscellaneous
Total Expenses

1,050,611
69,000
23
11,250
1,130,884

90ET7171/11
(1)
$

822,159
179,895
19,798
246,964
54,802
12,687
5,071
1,209
4,661
14,787
1,362,033

Change in Net Assets
Net assets - Beginning of year

(

231,149)
78,132

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR

($

153,017)

See Independent Auditor's Report.

$

Grant
90ET0444/05
(3)

90ET0987/02
(2)

147,890
0
0
0
147,890

$

97,907
0
0
0
97,907

$

93.710
Community
Services
Block

Grant
90ET0444/06
(4)

133,543
0
0
0
133,543

$

93.569
Subtotal

23,443
0
0
0
23,443

$

Grants
90SQ0099/03
(5)

402,783
0
0
0
402,783

$

31,453
0
0
0
31,453

101,780
2,234
7,634
32,121
0
2,508
997
235
361
20
147,890

74,679
112
1,122
15,010
5,500
878
254
112
185
55
97,907

79,129
522
3,122
34,976
11,500
2,480
1,272
90
232
220
133,543

10,384
78
567
12,074
0
44
87
22
187
0
23,443

265,972
2,946
12,445
94,181
17,000
5,910
2,610
459
965
295
402,783

28,478
199
437
1,000
500
306
95
2
291
145
31,453

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

$

0

$

0

$

0

$

0

$

0
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ABC CAA
Schedule A-2
Schedule of Program Activity
Year Ended December 31, 2012
DISCRETIONARY
ACTIVITY

PROGRAM ACTIVITY
Departm ent of Energy

81.042
LIHEAP

DE-EE0054321
(6)
REVENUE
Grant revenue
Program income
Interest income
Contributions
Total Revenue

$

EXPENSES
Personnel and fringe benefits
Supplies
Travel
Contract services
Rent
Communications
Copy
Postage
Insurance
Miscellaneous
Total Expenses
Change in Net Assets
Net assets - Beginning of year

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR

See Independent Auditor's Report.

$

41,225
0
0
0
41,225

$

Recovery Act
Weatherization
Assistance

81.117
Recovery Act
Weatherization
Assistance

Program
DE-EE0009999
(7)

Program
DE-EE0008888
(8)

420,150
32,000
0
0
452,150

$

TOTAL
81.117
Subtotal

155,000
37,000
0
0
192,000

$

PROGRAM
ACTIVITY

575,150
69,000
0
0
644,150

$

General
Fund
(9)

1,050,611
69,000
0
0
1,119,611

$

0
0
23
11,250
11,273

16,297
418
473
20,100
2,975
543
49
65
95
210
41,225

261,287
118,934
2,763
50,622
11,000
3,788
1,641
226
1,182
707
452,150

53,993
56,777
1,023
62,851
13,440
1,686
485
182
328
1,235
192,000

315,280
175,711
3,786
113,473
24,440
5,474
2,126
408
1,510
1,942
644,150

626,027
179,274
17,141
228,754
44,915
12,233
4,880
934
2,861
2,592
1,119,611

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

(

231,149)
78,132

0

($

153,017)

0

$

0

$

0

$

0

$

196,132
621
2,657
18,210
9,887
454
191
275
1,800
12,195
242,422
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ABC CAA
Schedule B
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and List of Programs
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through
Grantor/Program Title

CFDA
Number

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
( 1) Training & Technical Assistance93.569
90ET7171/11

Funding Source

Program Period

U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of
Community Services

9/30/2011 - 9/29/2012

Federal
Expenditures
$

147,890

( 2)

Assets for Independence 90ET2219/02

93.569

U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of
Community Services

9/30/2012 - 9/29/2013

97,907

( 3)

Community Services Block Grant 90ET0444/05

93.569

U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of
Community Services

5/15/2011 - 5/14/2012

133,543

( 4)

Community Services Block Grant 90ET0444/06

93.569

U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of
Community Services

5/15/2012 - 5/14/2013

23,443

Total Federal Expenditures CFDA #93.569
( 5)

Community Services Block Grant 90SQ0099/03

93.710-ARRA U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of
Community Services

402,783

8/15/2011 - 8/14/2012

31,453

Total Federal Expenditures CFDA #93.710-ARRA

31,453

Total Federal Expenditures CFDA #93.569 and #93.710-ARRA
DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY
Low Income Energy Assistance Program
( 6) (LIHEAP) DE-EE0054321

81.042

434,236

U.S. Department of Energy

10/1/2011 - 9/30/2013

41,225

( 7)

Recovery Act Weatherization Training,
Technical Assistance and Information
Dissemination - DE-EE0009999

81.117-ARRA U.S. Department of Energy

1/1/2010 - 12/31/2012

452,150

( 8)

Recovery Act Weatherization Training,
Technical Assistance and Information
Dissemination - DE-EE0008888

81.117-ARRA U.S. Department of Energy

10/1/2010 - 9/30/2012

192,000

Total Federal Expenditures CFDA #81.117-ARRA

644,150

Total Federal Expenditures CFDA #81.117 and #81.117-ARRA

685,375

TOTAL FEDERAL EXPENDITURES
DISCRETIONARY ACTIVITY
( 9) General Fund

Contributions, and interest
income

$

1,119,611

1/1/2012 - 12/31/2012

Note to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and List of Programs
This schedule includes the federal grant activity of ABC CAA and is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the
requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in the schedule may differ from amounts
presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial statements.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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Smith & Smith
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance With Government Auditing Standards
Board of Directors
ABC CAA
Cleghorn, Wisconsin

We have audited the financial statements of ABC CAA (a nonprofit organization) as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2012, and have issued our report thereon dated May 12, 2013. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statementsof ABC CAA as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2012, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of ABC CAA’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of ABC CAA’s internal control over financial reporting.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and would
not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses and therefore, there can be no assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material
weaknesses have been identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2012-A and 2012-B to be material weaknesses.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether ABC CAA’s financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.
We noted certain matters that we reported to management of ABC CAA in a separate letter dated May 12, 2013.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Directors, others within
ABC CAA, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Smith & Smith
Smith & Smith

May 12, 2013
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
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Smith & Smith
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance With Requirements Applicable to Each Major
Program and on Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance With OMB Circular A-133
Board of Directors
ABC CAA
Cleghorn, Wisconsin

Compliance
We have audited the compliance of ABC CAA (a nonprofit organization) with the types of compliance
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance
Supplement, that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended
December 31, 2012. ABC CAA's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section
of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of its major federal and state programs is the responsibility of
ABC CAA’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ABC CAA’s compliance based on our
audit.
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and NonProfit Organizations. Those standards, OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal or state program occurred. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence about ABC CAA’s compliance with those requirements and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on ABC CAA’s compliance with those
requirements.
In our opinion, ABC CAA complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of ABC CAA is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal programs. In
planning and performing our audit, we considered ABC CAA’s internal control over compliance with requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal or state program in order to determine our auditing
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on internal control over
compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of the ABC CAA’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent
or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program will not be prevented or
detected and corrected on a timely basis.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that
we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
We noted a certain matter that we reported to management of ABC CAA in a separate letter dated May12, 2013.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Directors, others within
ABC CAA, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Smith & Smith
Smith & Smith

May 12, 2013
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
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ABC CAA
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Section I.

Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of Auditor’s report issued
Internal controls over financial reporting
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified not considered
to be material weaknesses?
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Unqualified

Yes
Yes
No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified not considered to
to be material weaknesses?

Yes
None reported

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs

Unqualified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
Accordance with Circular A-133, section 510(a)?

Yes

Identification of Major Programs:
CFDA #93.569 – Community Services Block Grants
CFDA #81.117 – Weatherization Assistance – ARRA
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and B programs?

$300,000

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee?

No
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ABC CAA
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Section II.

Financial Statement Findings
2012 - A
Finding Type:

Material Weakness

Criteria:

Bank reconciliations must be completed and reviewed in a timely manner.

Condition:
ABC CAA did not complete any bank reconciliations until subsequent to
the end of the fiscal year. When completed, the bank statements were not reviewed by
anyone.
Cause:

Procedures were not in place to require this process be completed.

Effect:

Errors or irregularities involving cash could be made and go undetected.

Questioned Costs:

None

Management Response:
ABC CAA concurs with the above finding. The person normally
charged with this function left the organization and a replacement staff member did not
possess the skill set to perform this function. Going forward, ABC CAA will contract
with an outside organization to assist with the timely preparation of reconciliations. The
associate director will review the completed reconciliations on a monthly basis and pursue
any questions that arise.
2012 – B
Finding Type:

Material Weakness

Criteria:
Management and the Board of Directors must review monthly financial
statements of the organization.
Condition:
ABC CAA did not prepare financial statements on a monthly basis. Most
statements were at least 5 months late and 2 months financial statements were never
completed and reviewed by management or the Board.
Cause:
Inadequately trained staff were not able to produce financial statements
without substantially outside assistance. In numerous months, the staff never requested
the assistance and financial statements were simply not produced.
Effect:
There was no check in place to verify proper accounting of financial
transactions. Errors could be made and would not be disclosed or corrected in a timely
manner.
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ABC CAA
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Management Response:
ABC CAA is in the process of hiring a finance director with the
required skill set to produce financial statements.

Section III.

Questioned Costs
None.

Section IV.

Summary of Prior Audit Findings
2012 – A and 2012 – B were findings 2011 – A and 2011 – B, respectively, from the prior year
audit report.
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Appendix E – Applying the Knowledge Case Study
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Able & Friendly, LLC
123 Main Street
Duluth, MN 55118

Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Directors
XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of XYZ CAA as of December 31,
2012, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Organization’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that my audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of XYZ CAA as of December 31, 2012, and the changes in its net assets and its cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued my report dated February 1,
2013 on our consideration of XYZ CAA’S internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our
audit.
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Our audit was performed for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of XYZ
CAA taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of federal awards include the requirements of U.S.
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to
the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Able & Friendly, LLC
Able & Friendly, LLC
February 1, 2013
Duluth, Minnesota
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XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
EXHIBIT A
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash
Grants receivable
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets

$1,174,000
184,000
75,000
50,000
12,000
1,495,000
50,000

Long-term loan receivable
Land, building & equipment
Land
Buildings
Equipment
Cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net land, building & equipment

652,000
6,147,000
1,118,000
7,917,000
(4,430,700)
3,486,300

TOTAL ASSETS

$5,031,300

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related expenses
Accrued vacation and personal leave
Advance
Unearned revenue
Total Current Liabilities

$100,000
156,000
18,000
44,000
25,000
38,000
381,000

Long-Term Liabilities
Long term debt
Deferred loans
Total Long-Term Liabilities

800,000
78,000
878,000

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,259,000

Net Assets
Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Total Net Assets

3,772,300
0
3,772,300

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

$5,031,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
EXHIBIT B
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Unrestricted
REVENUE
Grant income
Program income
Donations/other income
Rental income
Interest income
In kind contributions
Net assets released from restriction through
satisfaction of program restrictions
Total Revenue
EXPENSES
Program expenses:
Direct services
Personnel and fringe benefits
Supplies
Travel
Contract services
Total Program expenses
Management and general expenses:
Personnel and fringe benefits
Contract services
Rent and utilities
Telephone, insurance and miscellaneous
Total Management and general expenses
Total Expenses

$

0
0
113,000
754,000
1,000
0
10,254,000

Temporarily
Restricted
$ 8,800,000
210,000
44,000
0
0
1,200,000

Total
$

( 10,254,000)

8,800,000
210,000
157,000
754,000
1,000
1,200,000
0

$ 11,122,000

$

0

$ 11,122,000

$

$

0
0
0
0
0
0

$

0
0
0
0
0
0

633,000
18,700
84,000
11,000
746,700
$ 10,524,700

4,081,000
4,200,000
293,000
78,000
1,126,000
9,778,000

4,081,000
4,200,000
293,000
78,000
1,126,000
9,778,000

633,000
18,700
84,000
11,000
746,700
$ 10,524,700

$

Increase in Net Assets
Net assets at beginning of year

$

597,300
3,175,000

$

0
0

$

597,300
3,175,000

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR

$

3,772,300

$

0

$

3,772,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
EXHIBIT C

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents:
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets

$

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash and
cash equivalents provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Grants receivable
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related expenses
Accrued vacation and personal leave
Advance
Unearned revenue

597,300

187,000

(
(
(

(

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

181,000
8,000
7,000)
1,000
56,000)
3,000)
8,700
5,000
8,100)
913,900

Cash flows from investing activity:
Purchase of equipment
Issuance of long-term receivable

(
(

188,000)
50,000)

Net cash used by investing activity

(

238,000)

Cash flows from financing activity:
Principal payments on long-term debt
Additional long-term debt

(

100,000)
275,000

Net cash used by financing activity

175,000

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year

850,900
323,100

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year

$ 1,174,000

See accompany notes to financial statements.
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XYZ CAA
Notes to Financial Statements

Note A

Nature of Operations
The XYZ CAA (XYZ CAA or the “Organization”) was incorporated in 2006. The
Organization was formed to eliminate poverty within the city limits of Minneapolis and
Saint Paul, Minnesota. The Organization is primarily supported through federal
government grants. Approximately 45% of XYZ CAA’Ss revenue is received under
one contract with the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).

Note B

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
All financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Classification of Net Assets
Net assets and revenue, expenses, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Organization
and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:
Unrestricted Net Assets - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations
or where donor-imposed stipulations are met in the year of the contribution.
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations
that may or may not be met, either by actions of the Organization and/or the passage of
time. When a restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are transferred to
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released
from restrictions. XYZ CAA does not have any temporarily restricted net assets.
Permanently Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations
that they be maintained permanently by the Organization. Generally, the donors of
these assets permit the Organization to use all or part of the income earned on any
related investments for general or specific purposes. XYZ CAA does not have any
permanently restricted net assets.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ
from those estimates.
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XYZ CAA
Notes to Financial Statements

Note B

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue Recognition
Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to XYZ CAA
that is, in substance, unconditional. Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted,
temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support, depending on the existence
and nature of any donor restrictions.
Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in unrestricted
net assets if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are
recognized.
Contributions are reported as increases in temporarily or permanently restricted net
assets depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires,
temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and reported in
the statement of activities as released from restrictions.
Conditional promises to give are recognized only when the conditions on which they
depend are substantially met and the promises become unconditional.
Grants are either recorded as contributions or exchange transactions based on criteria
contained in the grant award.
1.

Grant Awards that are Contributions
Grants that qualify as contributions are recorded as invoiced to the funding
sources. Revenue is recognized in the accounting period when the related
allowable expenses are incurred. Amounts received in excess of expenses are
reflected as grant funds received in advance.

2.

Grant Awards that are Exchange Transactions
Exchange transactions reimburse based on a predetermined rate for services
performed. The revenue is recognized in the period the service is performed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
XYZ CAA considers bank balances and certificates of deposits to be cash.
Land, Buildings and Equipment
Land, buildings and equipment purchased is capitalized at cost and depreciated over its
useful life using the straight-line method. XYZ CAA considers items with a cost of
$5,000 or more and a useful life of greater than one year to be equipment.
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XYZ CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note B

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Land, Buildings and Equipment (continued)
Buildings and equipment are depreciated over the following useful lives:
Buildings
30 years
Equipment and furnishings
5 – 10 years
Depreciation expense for the year was $187,000.
Income Taxes
XYZ CAA is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code.

Note C

Note D

Grants Receivable
Grants receivable represent uncollected grant awards from the following:
Direct federal
State of Minnesota

$

Total

$ 184,000

84,000
100,000

Concentration of Risk
XYZ CAA maintains cash and cash equivalents at two banks. Accounts at each
institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000.
Bank balances in excess of $250,000 at December 31, 2012 are $123,000.

Note E

Operating Leases
XYZ CAA leases office space for operation of its programs. Rent expense for the year
ended December 31, 2012 was $69,000. Future minimum lease payments on leases
having terms beyond one year are as follows:
Year ended December 31

Amount

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Total

$

60,000
261,000
262,000
263,000
264,000
365,000
12,000
$ 1,487,000
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XYZ CAA
Notes to Financial Statements
Note F

Retirement Plan
XYZ CAA has established a 403(b) retirement contribution plan that covers all full-time
employees. The retirement benefits vest immediately. XYZ CAA contributes up to 5%
of the annual compensation of the participating employees. The contributions for the
years ended December 31, 2012 was $23,000.

Note G

Grant Awards
At December 31, 2012, XYZ CAA had received commitments for funding under
various grant awards of approximately $555,000. These commitments are not
recognized in the accompanying financial statements as they are conditional awards.

Note H

Line of Credit
At December 31, 2012, XYZ CAA had a line of credit available in the amount of
$500,000. The line of credit had no outstanding balance at December 31, 2012. The line
of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 3.50 percentage points on any
balance outstanding. Interest expense on line of credit, for outstanding balances during
the year, was $17,000.

Note I

Long-term Debt
At December 31, 2012, XYZ CAA had a loan in the original amount of $1,000,000 to
Western States Bank Alliance. The loan was used to purchase an office building, which
houses the central office of XYZ CAA. Additional space in the building is leased to
tenants who are non-profit. The building serves as security on the loan. The loan bears
interest at 10.50% per annum. Interest expense on the outstanding balance of the loan
was $73,000 for 2012.
Principal balance
Less: Current portion
Long-term debt

$ 900,000
(100,000)
$ 800,000

Required future principal payments having terms beyond one year are as follows:
Year ended December 31
Amount
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Total

$

$
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100,000
125,000
125,000
150,000
200,000
200,000
900,000

Additional Information

XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Program Unearned Current
CFDA
Grant
Program
Grantor
Program
or Award Revenue
Grant
Other
Number
Number
Name
Agency
Period
Amount
1/1/12
Revenue Revenue
ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS AS IDENTIFIED IN THE CATALOG OF FEDERAL DOMESTIC ASSISTANCE
Department of Agriculture
10.558

N/A

Child/Adult Care Food Program MN Department of Education 1/1/11 - 12/31/12

N/A

Repaid/
Expenses Deobligated Transfers

Unearned
Revenue
12/31/12

$0

$65,000

$0

($65,000)

$0

$0

$0

$711,000

$0

$711,000

$210,000

($921,000)

$0

$0

$0

$5,400,000
281,000
5,475,000
290,000

$0
0
0
0
$0

$1,107,000
102,000
4,338,000
177,000
$5,724,000

$280,000
0
920,000
0
$1,200,000

($1,387,000)
(102,000)
(5,258,000)
(177,000)
($6,924,000)

$0
0
0
0
$0

$0
0
0
0
$0

$0
0
0
0
$0

$461,000
1,108,000

$0
0
$0

$461,000
1,108,000
$1,569,000

$0
0
$0

($461,000)
(1,108,000)
($1,569,000)

$0
0
$0

$0
0
$0

$0
0
$0

$923,000
645,000

$0
0
$0
$0

($457,000)
(236,000)
($693,000)
($10,172,000)

$0
0
$0
$0

$0
0
$0
$0

Department of Energy
81.042

DE99900/23

DOE Weatherization

MN Department of Commerce 1/1/11 - 12/31/12

Department of Health and Human Services
93.600
93.600
93.600
93.600

05CH0187/45
05CH0187/45
05CH0187/46
05CH0187/46

Head Start
Early Head Start
Head Start
Early Head Start
Subtotal 93.600*

U.S. Dept. of H.H.S.
U.S. Dept. of H.H.S.
U.S. Dept. of H.H.S.
U.S. Dept. of H.H.S.

04/01/11 - 3/31/12
04/01/11 - 3/31/12
04/01/12 - 3/31/13
04/01/12 - 3/31/13

93.568
93.568

EAZ 2121
EAZ 2121

EAP Weatherization
Energy Assistance
Subtotal 93.568*

MN Department of Commerce 1/1/11 - 12/31/12
MN Department of Commerce 1/1/11 - 12/31/12

93.569
93.569

8934555
8934556

Community Service Block Grant MN Dept. of Human Services 7/1/11 - 6/30/12
Community Service Block Grant MN Dept. of Human Services 7/1/12 - 6/30/13
Subtotal 93.569
Total Federal Programs

*Indicates major federal program as defined in OMB Circular A-133 "Audits of Institutions of Higher Education and Other Nonprofit Institutions."
See Independent Auditors' Report.

$457,000
274,000
$731,000
$8,800,000

$0
0
$0
$1,410,000

$0
(38,000)
($38,000)
($38,000)

XYZ CAA
Notes to Financial Statements

Note 1

Basis of Accounting
Cash received is reported on the cash basis. Expenditures are recorded on the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when the
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all grant requirements have
been met. The information in the accompanying Schedule of Federal Award is
presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits
of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.

Note 2

Reconciliation of Basic Financial Statements
Management has reconciled the expenditures reported in the Schedule of
Federal Awards to those amounts reported in the annual final cost reports.
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Able & Friendly, LLC
123 Main Street
Duluth, MN 55118

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Board of Directors
XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota
We have audited the financial statements of XYZ CAA (a nonprofit organization) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2012, and have issued our report thereon dated February 1, 2013. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit, we considered XYZ CAA’Ss internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressingan opinion on the effectiveness of the XYZ
CAA’Ss internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion of the
effectiveness of XYZ CAA’Ss internal control over financial reporting.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibleility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a
timely basis.
Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether XYZ CAA’S financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, federal awarding agencies, and
pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Able & Friendly, LLC
Able & Friendly, LLC
February 1, 2013
Duluth, Minnesota
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Able & Friendly, LLC
123 Main Street
Duluth, MN 55118

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance With Requirements That Could Have a Direct and
Material Effect on Each Major Program and Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance
with OMB Circular A-133

Board of Directors
XYZ CAA
Minneapolis, Minnesota

Compliance
We have audited Twin Cities Community Programs’ compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended December 31, 2012. XYZ CAA’S major federal programs are identified in the summary of
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance
with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to its major federal program is
the responsibility of XYZ CAA’S management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on XYZ
CAA’S compliance based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about XYZ CAA’s compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not
provide a legal determination on XYZ CAA’S compliance with those requirements.
In our opinion, XYZ CAA complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that
could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended December
31, 2012.
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Internal Control Over Compliance
The management of XYZ CAA is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal
programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered XYZ CAA’s internal control over
compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program to
determine the auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly,
we do not express any opinion on the effectiveness of XYZ CAA’S internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal proram on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance reuqrement of a federal program will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purposes described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internernal control over
compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses,
as defined above.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, federal awarding agencies, and
pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Able & Friendly, LLC
Able & Friendly, LLC
February 1, 2013
Duluth, Minnesota
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XYZ CAA
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
A.

B.

Summary of Auditor’s Results
1.

The auditor’s report expresses an unqualified opinion on the financial statements
of XYZ CAA.

2.

No reportable conditions relating to the audit of the financial statements are
reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters.

3.

No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of XYZ CAA
were disclosed during the audit.

4.

No reportable conditions were disclosed during the audit of the major federal
award program as reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance
With Requirements Applicable to the Major Program and Internal Control Over
Compliance.

5.

The auditor’s report on compliance for the major federal award program for XYZ
CAA expresses an unqualified opinion.

6.

There were no audit findings relative to the major federal award program for XYZ
CAA.

7.

The programs tested as major programs were the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, Low Income Home Energy Assistance, CFDA #93.568 and
Head Start CFDA #93.600.

8.

The threshold for distinguishing Types A and B programs was $300,000.

9.

XYZ CAA was determined to be a low-risk auditee.

Findings – Financial Statements Audit
None

C.

Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Award Programs Audit
Finding:

None

Questioned Costs:

None
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Appendix F - Applying the Knowledge - Guide
Case Study 1: ABC CAA
1. What is the independent auditor’s opinion on the financial statements?
The auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is unqualified or ‘clean.’ The auditor states
“In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of ABC CAA as of December 31, 2012,…” This can be
found in paragraph 3 on page 1 of the audit report.
2. Does the organization have adequate cash to operate?
No, ABC CAA does not have adequate cash to operate. See the top line of the Statement of
Financial Position on page 3 under the 2012 column. Cash and cash equivalents is zero.
Even worse, there is actually negative cash or a bank overdraft in the amount of $97,289 (see
the first line under Current Liabilities). If you were on this Board, you may want to ask the
question “How is management planning on paying the bills of the organization?” This is a
marked change in trend from the prior year when there was $40,073 in cash at the end of
2011. Perhaps another question to management is “What happened that changed the
situation so drastically from the prior year?”
3. Are there adequate resources available to the Agency to pay its short-term
(immediate) obligations?
In 2012, there are not adequate resources to pay its short-term obligations. The easiest way
to answer this question is to look at the current ratio – defined as current assets divided by
current liabilities. In 2012, the current ratio is 0.59 to 1.00. This is computed by dividing
current assets of $269,880 by current liabilities of $456,470. This means that for every dollar
of liabilities (amounts owed) there is only $0.59 of assets (resources) to pay towards that
amount. Once again, this is a significant change from the prior year when the ratio was 1.77
to 1.00 (current assets $112,287 divided by current liabilities of $63,598). Again, as a Board
member you would want to know why the sudden change and what are the plans to get this
corrected.
4. Is the Agency timely billing for and receiving reimbursement for its government
grants?
The best test to answer this question is to look at the number of months in grants receivable.
First, start by computing the average monthly grant revenue. In this example, the monthly
grant revenue is $87,550 ($1,050,611 in total grant revenue from the first line of the
Statement of Activities on page 4 divided by 12 months in a year.) Then divide grant
receivable on line two of page 3 ($262,652). This produces a result of just over 3. In other
words, they have about 3 months of cash that they have spent on Federal projects that they
are waiting to get reimbursed. This is a major use of cash. In an organization, such as this,
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that does not have another way of generating cash, they cannot afford to front this
magnitude of resources. The benchmark goal is to have no more than one month delay
from the time they spend the cash until the time it is reimbursed. A question you may have
as a Board member is “What is causing the delay in getting cash – is it that they are not
billing or requesting the cash in a timely manner or is it that they are not being reimbursed
promptly upon submission of requests?”
5. Are they paying vendors in a timely manner?
Start the answer to this question by first figuring out what monthly costs are (much like in
number 4 above). Take total expenses of $1,362,033 less the employee (non-vendor) related
expenses of $714,892 (both of these numbers are found on the Statement of Activities on
page 4 of the financial statements) to arrive at $647,141 of vendor related expenses. Divide
this by 12 months in a year to arrive at just under $54,000 a month of estimated vender
expenses. Divide accounts payable of $171,325 (from page 3 of the financial statements) by
$54,000. This produces a result of just over 3 – in other words, vendors are waiting about 3
months for payment of their invoices. The benchmark goal is 1 month or less (30 days).
Anything over that goal tends to irritate vendors and ensures they will not get their best deal
on future transactions. Potential questions for staff might be “How dissatisfied are
vendors?” and “How are we planning on paying vendors going forward?”
6. Are employees paid in a timely manner?
Start the resolution to this question much like numbers 4 and 5 above. Take the employee
related expenses from the Statement of Activities $714,892 and divide by 12 months. This
produces a result of $59,574 of monthly related employee expenses. The CAP’s accrued
payroll and related taxes of $187,856 (from the Statement of Financial Position on page 3)
divided by $59,574 is over 3 months. Yikes! This might indicate they are three months
behind in paying employees. This probably means they do not have any employees still
working for them or, perhaps even worse, the agency is not paying payroll taxes! Not paying
payroll taxes can put Board members at personal liability risk. There are lots of potential
questions as a Board member here. Start with “Are payroll taxes current and if not, when
will we be current with them?”
7. Does the organization have a ‘solid’ net asset position?
ABC CAA does not have a ‘solid’ net assets position! In this example, net assets is actually
negative ($153, 017 on the bottom of page 3). This number should definitely be positive. A
good question for starters is “What is the plan to get our net assets positive?”
8. Is the revenue stream adequately diversified to sustain the organization?
The degree of correct diversification of revenue is a difficult question to answer. When
looking at this example, all but $11,250 of revenue is related to federally funded projects.
This means that 99.7% of revenue comes from the Federal government. This lack of
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diversification is even greater when you consider that all the revenue from the Federal
government to the agency comes from only two major programs (even though they have
more than two grants). What this means is that if one or both of the Federal sources of
revenue cut back, they have nothing to fall back on to cover expenses. This type of heavily
reliant agency needs good contingency planning and an understanding that if resources are
decreased, expenses need to be decreased in line. A potential question to staff: “What are
our contingency plans if we lose a source of funding or if there is a significant decline in a
grant resource?”
9. Are they operating within their means (i.e. spending only the resources they have
available)?
They are not operating the agency within the confines of available resources. This is an easy
question to answer. Look at the Change in Net Assets line near the bottom of the Statement
of Activities on page 4. ABC CAA has a negative number or a deficit of $231,149. This
means they are spending $231,149 more than they are bringing into the organization. Many
CAAs are focused on delivering mission, which is vitally important, but losing sight of the
available resources to do it.
Unfortunately, the needs of those CAAs serve are infinite and the resources in which to
operate are very limited. You can only deliver service to the extent you have resources to do
so. A question for management might be “I know the large need in our community for our
services, but how can we ensure that we only spend the resources that we have available, so
that our wonderful organization will be around for years to come to continue to serve the
needs of our community?”
10. Is the percent of costs for administrative purposes reasonable?
To determine the percentage of administrative costs for the agency take total management
and general expenses of $155,593 divided by total expenses of $1,362,033 (both of these
numbers can be found on page 4 of the financial statements on the Statement of Activities).
This yields a result of 11.4%. In general this is not bad. A general goal for administrative
costs is 10% or less. This is because this is the limitation that many funders limit
reimbursement on grants. If administrative costs run above the maximum amount, the
agency must find another way to fund this difference. This can prove to be problematic,
when, as in this case, there are no other sources of revenue to cover this difference. A
question might be “I noted we have administrative costs greater than 10% of our total
expenses, do we have grants that allow us to recover more than 10% administration and if
not, what other revenue sources do we have to absorb this difference?
11. Are they generating cash from operations? Or using cash in operations?
The first sub-total on the Statement of Cash Flows (page 5) shows cash used in operations
of $130,794. This means they are actually using cash to run operations. A better goal here is
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to at least break even on a cash flow position. If they are using cash in operations, they must
be generating it somehow in order to stay in business. In this case, they are ‘generating’ cash
by running a cash overdraft. This is not a solid financing plan and eventually a bank
overdraft will catch up with them. They can float for a bit, but it is NOT a solid plan. The
urgent question for management is “What is the plan to get cash back in the black?”
12. Do any of the footnotes cause you concern?
None of the footnotes caused me particular concern. Most of these are pretty common
disclosure for a similar type organization.
13. What is the CAAs largest Federal program?
Examine the Schedule of Program Activity on pages 10 and 11 for this answer. These two
pages provide a listing of all activity within the financial statements by grant. Looking at the
headings, we realize the largest Federal program for ABC CAA is CFDA #81.117 the
Department of Energy’s Recovery Act Weatherization Assistance Program.
14. What is the auditor’s opinion on internal controls?
The auditor’s opinion on internal controls is found on pages 13 and 14 of the audit report.
The ‘opinion’ of the auditor is presented in the third paragraph on page 13. The auditor
states that they “…identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be
material weaknesses.”
15. If there were any deficiencies identified, what were they? As a Board member are
you concerned about these deficiencies?
The actual deficiencies that are identified by the auditor are not presented in the opinion, but
rather are presented in a separate Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. For the
example, the findings are listed on page 18 of the audit report. There are two separate
findings. Continuing on to page 19, note that both the findings for the current year were
also findings in the prior year. In other words, the auditor pointed out weaknesses a year
ago and the agency did not correct either of these situations. As a Board member,
uncorrected deficiencies should be particularly worrisome. This can show a lack of concern
for internal controls by management. Also, on a practical level, it may jeopardize funding
sources willingness to fund an organization who does not take internal controls seriously and
ensure proper stewardship of their funds. As a Board member, I would want to know
management’s corrective action plan, why the plan was not adopted during the most recent
year and how can the Board assure that the necessary enhancements to internal control will
be implemented.
16. What is the opinion of the auditor on compliance of the Agency?
The auditor’s opinion on compliance is presented in the last paragraph on page 15 of the
audit report. “In our opinion, ABC CAA complied, in all material respects, with the
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requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its
major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012.”
17. Was a management letter issued by the auditor as part of this engagement?
Yes. The second to last paragraph of both the internal control and compliance reports
mention the existence of a management letter. As a Board member, you should be supplied
with a copy of the letter. If you have not, you should request one.
18. What were the major programs, under A-133, for testing?
The major programs for testing are not necessarily the largest programs run by the CAA.
The auditor will disclose the major programs somewhere in the audit report. For ABC
CAA, the two major programs for A-133 purposes for 2012 were Community Services Block
Grants and Weatherization Assistance – ARRA. These are listed near the bottom of page 17
of the audit report.
19. Was this entity considered low risk by the auditor?
Once again, the auditor is required to disclose this fact in the audit report. In this case, ABC
CAA is not considered low risk as indicated on the bottom of page 17. In your role as a
Board member, you may very well want to know why not and how that can be changed
going forward.

Case Study 2: XYZ CAA
1. What is the independent auditor’s opinion on the financial statements?
The auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is unqualified or ‘clean.’ The auditor states
“In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of XYZ CAA as of December 31, 2012,…” This can be
found in paragraph 3 on page 1 of the audit report.
2. Does the organization have adequate cash to operate?
Yes, XYZ CAA does have adequate cash to operate. See the top line of the Statement of
Financial Position on page 3. Cash is $1,174,000. Besides simply sounding like a lot of
money, it is significant in terms of annual expenses for the year. Cash as a percent of annual
expenses (found near the bottom of page 4 on the Statement of Activity) is over 11%
($1,174,000 divided by $10,524,700). A general rule of thumb is that healthy agencies like 5
– 10% of annual expenses in cash. Of course, this all depends on the nature of each CAA
and your specific circumstances, but in general, 11% would be considered healthy.
3. Are there adequate resources available to the Agency to pay its short-term
(immediate) obligations?
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There are adequate resources to pay short-term obligations. The easiest way to answer this
question is to look at the current ratio – defined as current assets divided by current
liabilities. The current ratio is 3.92 to 1.00. This is computed by dividing current assets of
$1,495,000 by current liabilities of $381,000. This means that for every dollar of liabilities
(amounts owed) there is almost $4 of assets (resources) to pay towards that amount.
Anything better than a 1.00 to 1.00 ratio is typically considered good.
4. Is the Agency timely billing for and receiving reimbursement for its government
grants?
The best test to answer this question is to look at the number of months in grants receivable.
First, start by computing the average monthly grant revenue. In this example, the monthly
grant revenue is $733,333 ($8,800,00 in total grant revenue from the first line of the
Statement of Activities on page 4 divided by 12 months in a year.) Then divide grant
receivable on line two of page 3 ($184,000). This produces a result of just over 0.25. In
other words, we have about one-quarter of a month or one week of cash that they have
spent on Federal projects that they are waiting to get reimbursed. This is very rapid
turnaround. A typical target is less than one month for this number. They are way ahead of
that goal.
5. Is the CAA paying vendors in a timely manner?
Start the answer to this question by first figuring out what monthly costs are (much like in
number 4 above). Take total expenses of $10,524,700 less the employee (non-vendor)
related expenses of $4,200,000 and $633,000 (all of these numbers are found on the
Statement of Activities on page 4 of the financial statements) to arrive at $5,691,700 of
vendor related expenses. Divide this by 12 months in a year to arrive at $474,308 a month
of estimated vender expenses. Divide accounts payable of $156,000 (from page 3 of the
financial statements) by $474,308. This produces a result of just under one-third – in other
words, vendors are waiting less than one-third of a month for payment of their invoices.
The benchmark goal is 1 month or less (30 days). They are paying their vendors promptly
and should be able to use this prompt payment as leverage to get great pricing and/or a
sizable donation to the organization for being such a valued business partner.
6. Is the Agency paying employees in a timely manner?
Start the resolution to this question much like numbers 4 and 5 above. Take the employee
related expenses from the Statement of Activities $4,200,000 plus $633,000 and divide by 12
months. This produces a result of $402,750 of monthly related employee expenses. The
CAA’s accrued payroll and related taxes of $18,000 (from the Statement of Financial
Position on page 3) divided by $402,750 is about 4% or under 2 days. This indicates they are
very current with payments to employees. Further, it is also a good indication that they are
current with their required payroll related tax payments as well.
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7. Does the organization have a ‘solid’ net asset position?
XYZ CAA does have a ‘solid’ net assets position. In this example, net assets are $3,772,300
(bottom of page 3). This as a percentage of total revenue of $11,122,000 (from page 4 at the
top) is just shy of 34%. A good goal to strive for related to net assets as a percentage of total
revenue is 10 – 25%. Again, each individual agency will have different requirements and this
is only a general statement. An agency with a greater percentage of net assets allows it to be
more flexible in operations and be able to withstand unforeseen crisis and take advantage of
unpredicted opportunities.
8. Is the revenue stream adequately diversified to sustain the organization?
The degree of correct diversification of revenue is a difficult question to answer. Obviously,
the more the better. When looking at this example, $912,000 ($157,000 in donations;
$754,000 in rental income; and, $1,000 of interest income from the top of page 4 –
Statement of Activities) is earned income or income that comes from the agency rather than
coming from Federal sources that are outside of its control. This represents just over 8% of
the organization’s total annual revenue. Although this does not seem like a huge percentage,
in the Community Action Network, this is actually a significant amount of internally
generated funds. This produces a bit of a ‘cushion’ on an annual basis for the CAA to use to
cover programs that over-spend their grants; unallowable costs; and, to take advantage of
options that may avail themselves.
9. Are they operating within their means (i.e. spending only the resources they have
available)?
They are operating the agency within the confines of available resources. This is an easy
question to answer. Look at the Change in Net Assets line near the bottom of the Statement
of Activities on page 4. XYZ CAA has a positive number $597,300. This means they are
spending $597,300 less than they are bringing into the organization. Balancing the provision
of services or meeting mission with available resources is an exercise that has no right
answer. We do know that over the long-term, they cannot spend more than they bring in.
10. Is the percent of costs for administrative purposes reasonable?
To determine the percentage of administrative costs for the agency take total management
and general expenses of $746,700 divided by total expenses of $10,524,700 (both of these
numbers can be found on page 4 of the financial statements on the Statement of Activities).
This yields a result of 7.1%. As this is under 10%, this would be considered a good result.
A general goal for administrative costs is 10% or less. This is because this is the limitation
that many funders limit reimbursement on grants. If administrative costs run above the
maximum amount, the CAA must find another way to fund this difference. This can prove
to be problematic. It seems reasonable to expect that the administrative expenses of 7.1%
could be recovered from most grant programs.
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11. Are they generating cash from operations? Or using cash in operations?
They are generating cash from operating activities. The first sub-total on the Statement of
Cash Flows (page 5) shows cash provided by operations of a significant amount of $913,900.
This means they are generating cash by conducting their operations. This provides cash for
them to pay off long-term debt or to further turn around and re-invest in themselves
through the purchase of capital assets.
12. Do any of the footnotes cause you concern?
Perhaps the footnote that is most troubling to me is Note E. The lease obligation indicates
that they are currently renting space for $69,000 which actually goes down to $60,000 in
2013. Then annual amount skyrockets to $261,000 in 2014 and stays at this elevated level
for five years. The first question for management is what does this relate to – additional
space, new locations or an increase in rate for existing space? I would also want to know
how they are going to recover this huge increase in expenses – Can they bill it back to
programs and do those programs have room to reimburse for these costs? Can they get out
from under this obligation if their federal funding does not come through or if they
experience significant reductions?
13. What is the Agency’s largest federal program?
Examine the Schedule of Federal Awards on page 10 for this answer. This page provides a
listing of all activity within the financial statements by grant. Looking at the headings, we
realize the largest Federal program for XYZ CAA is CFDA #93.600 the Department of
Health and Human Service’s Head Start Program.
14. What is the auditor’s opinion on internal controls?
The auditor’s opinion on internal controls is found on pages 12 and 13 of the audit report.
The ‘opinion’ of the auditor is presented in the last paragraph on page 12. The auditor
states, “We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting…”
15. If there were any deficiencies identified, what were they? As a Board member are
you concerned about these deficiencies?
Not applicable, as there were no deficiencies identified. This fact is also stated on page 16
under A. 2.
16. What is the opinion of the auditor on compliance of the CAA?
The auditor’s opinion on compliance is presented in the last paragraph on page 14 of the
audit report. “In our opinion, XYZ CAA complied, in all material respects, with the
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its
major federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2012.”
17. Was a management letter issued by the auditor as part of this engagement?
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No management letter was issued related to this audit engagement. If a management letter
would have been issued, there would have been a paragraph before the last paragraph of
both the internal control and compliance reports mentioning the existence of a management
letter.
18. What were the major programs, under A-133, for testing?
The major programs for testing are not necessarily the largest programs run by the CAA.
The auditor will disclose the major programs somewhere in the audit report. For XYZ
CAA, the two major programs for A-133 purposes for 2012 were Low Income Home
Energy Assistance (CFDA #93.568) and Head Start (CFDA #93.600). These are listed near
the bottom of page 16 of the audit report.
19. Was this entity considered low risk by the auditor?
Once again, the auditor is required to disclose this fact in the audit report. In this case, XYZ
CAA is considered low risk as indicated on the bottom of page 16 (Item A. 9).
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Appendix G – Additional Resources
U.S. Government Accountability Office Government Auditing Standards (Yellow Book)
http://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Internal

Control – Integrated Framework

http://www.coso.org/documents/COSO_Guidance_On_Monitoring_Intro_online1_002.pdf
Office of Management and Budget OMB Circular A-110, Uniform Administrative

Requirements for Grants and Other Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education,
Hospitals and Other Non-Profit Organizations
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_a110/

Office of Management and Budget OMB Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Non-Profit

Organizations

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_a122_2004/
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations
http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/assets/a133/a133_revised_2007.pdf
OMB Circular A-133, Compliance Supplement
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars/a133_compliance_supplement_2012

U.S. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
https://www.cfda.gov/

CAPLAW Tools for Top-Notch CAAs: A Practical Approach to Governance and Financial

Excellence

http://www.caplaw.org/resources/PublicationDocuments/CAPLAW_TopNotchToolkit_october2
011.pdf
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